Glucose-sensitive adrenomedullary neonatal chromaffin cells

.

....

.

The effects of low glucose on catecholamine secretion from neonatal adrenomedullary chromaffin cells

.

By

Simon Livermore, B.Sc. (Hons)

A Thesis

Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies

In Partial Fulfilment of the Requirements

for the Degree

Master of Science

McMaster University

Copyright by Simon Livermore, 2011

MASTER OF SCIENCE (2011)

McMaster University

(Biology)

Hamilton, Ontario

TITLE: The effects of low glucose on catecholamine secretion from neonatal adrenomedullary chromaffin cells

AUTHOR: Simon Livermore, B.Sc (Hons) (McMaster University)

SUPERVISOR: Dr. Colin A. Nurse

NUMBER OF PAGES: xi; 113

ABSTRACT

Glucose is the primary metabolic fuel in mammalian fetuses, yet mammals are incapable of endogenous glucose production until several hours after birth. Thus, when the maternal supply of glucose ceases at birth there is a transient hypoglycemia in the first few hours of life. This hypoglycemia places the newborn at increased risk of brain damage, especially in newborns of diabetic mothers, premature infants, and newborns small-for-gestational-age. In newborns hypoglycemia evokes a surge in circulating catecholamines and glucagon and a fall in insulin, which triggers the breakdown of glycogen in liver hepatocytes. While this counterregulatory hormonal surge occurs in *adult* mammals the mechanisms of glucose-sensing differ. In adults, neurons in the ventromedial hypothalamus sense glucose and initiate the sympathoadrenal release of catecholamines; however the adrenal gland is not functionally mature until several weeks after birth. Moreover, while glucose-insensitive until several weeks after birth. Thus, I proposed that neonatal adrenomedullary chromaffin cells (AMC) are *direct* glucose-sensors which secrete catecholamines in response to low glucose in the perinatal period.

I used carbon fiber amperometry to measure quantal catecholamine release in response to low glucose (aglycemia and hypoglycemia). Low glucose led to a robust secretory response in a subset of AMCs, however a significant number of AMCs were glucose-insensitive. Despite this fact, these glucose-insensitive AMCs were healthy as evidenced by their robust high K⁺-evoked secretion, which was not significantly different than the high K⁺-evoked response in glucosesensitive AMCs. Aglycemia increased the quantal frequency and mean quantal size leading to an increase in catecholamine secretion. On the other hand, hypoglycemia (3 mM glucose) increased quantal frequency and had no effect on quantal size.

I tested for the requirement of voltage-gated Ca²⁺ channel (VGCC) activation in the aglycemia response. The general VGCC blocker Ni²⁺ (2 mM) abolished the aglycemia-evoked secretory response, and moreover, low concentrations of Ni²⁺ (50 μ M) blocked the aglycemia-evoked secretory response indicating the involvement of T-type VGCCs. The specific L-type VGCC blocker nifedipine (10 μ M) also inhibited the aglycemia-evoked response, indicating that both the L-type and T-type VGCC are necessary for the secretory response during aglycemia.

I developed a fresh thin slice adrenal gland preparation to study the glucose-sensitivity of adrenal glands in slices. This limits phenotypic changes which occur in culture and maintains the integrity of the tissue. In preliminary studies using neonatal adrenal thin slices aglycemiaevoked catecholamine secretion was detected. Aglycemia increased the event frequency but had no effect on quantal size.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would foremost like to thank my supervisor Dr. Colin A. Nurse for his support and interest when things were going well and patience when things were not going smoothly. I am very grateful to Cathy Vollmer for her assistance in the lab; it was comforting to know I was not the only one that was frustrated at times. I would like to thank Dr. Min Zhang for his assistance in moving my project forward. I would like to thank Nikol Piskuric and Pablo Reyes for their friendship and support. All the lab members created a wonderful atmosphere in which to work.

I would like to thank my parents, siblings, and grandfather for their constant support, assistance, and encouragement. Finally, I want to thank the friends I have made here for all the fun we have had these last two years.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1: GENERAL INTRODUCTION		
Development of chromaffin cells		
Organization and contents of chromaffin vesicles		
Stimulus-secretion coupling in chromaffin cells		
Role of catecholamines in perinatal mammals		
Chemosensing in AMCs		
Effects of asphyxia		
Developmental regulation of chemosensing		
Evidence for AMCs as glucosensors		
Mechanisms of glucosensing in other cell types		
Carbon fiber amperometry		
Organization of this thesis		
CHAPTER 2: NEONATAL ADRENOMEDULLARY CHROMAFFIN CELLS SECRETE CATECHOLAMINES IN RESPONSE TO LOW GLUCOSE		
SUMMARY 22		
INTRODUCTION 23		
MATERIALS AND METHODS. 24		
Animal Procedures		
Cell Culture Method		
Immunofluorescence		
Carbon Fiber Amperometry		
Solutions		
Statistical Analysis		
RESULTS		
Aglycemia-evoked changes in catecholamine secretion		
Effects of different concentrations of glucose on catecholamine secretion		
Entry of extracellular Ca^{2+} through VGCC is required for		
aglycemia-evoked catecholamine release		
Interactive effects of hypoxia and aglycemia47		
DISCUSSION		
Aglycemia-evoked secretion requires activation of VGCCs51		
Glucose-insensitive cells and interactions between aglycemia and hypoxia52		
Role of Catecholamines in Perinatal Glucose Homeostasis		
CHAPTER 3: EFFECTS OF CHRONIC HYPOXIA ON AGLYCEMIA-EVOKEI CATECHOLAMINE SECRETION FROM NEONATAL ADRENOMEDULLARY CHROMAFFIN CELLS		
MATERIALS AND METHODS		

Animal Procedures	59
Cell Culture Method	
Carbon Fiber Amperometry	60
Solutions	60
Statistical Analysis	60
RESULTS	60
Chronic hypoxia augments aglycemia-evoked secretion	
Chronic hypoxia modifies high K^+ -evoked secretion from neonatal A	<i>MC</i> 65
DISCUSSION	68
APPENDX I: PROBLEMS ENCOUNTERED DURING THIS STUDY	70
ADDENINIV II, ADDENIAL SLICE DDEDADATIONI	77
ALL ENDIA II, ADREIVAL SLICE I KEFAKALIUN	/ / / / רר
ΟΠΑΤΑΚΙ	// רד
ΜΑΤΕΡΙΑΙ Ο ΑΝΌ ΜΕΤΗΛΟΟ	
Propagation	
r repuration	
Anumuus	
Juvenue Suce Floceaure	
Troubleshooting and alternative procedures	
Inducesnooling and diternative procedures	0U Q1
Amparomatry	01 02
DESILITS	04 07
APPENDIX III: ATTEMPTS TO MEASURE ATP RELEASE FROM	NEONATAL.
ADRENOMEDULLARY CHROMAFFIN CELLS	90
SUMMARY	90
INTRODUCTION	90
MATERIALS AND METHODS	91
Animal Procedures	91
Cell Culture Method	
Adrenal Slices	
ATP Assay	92
Solutions	94
RESULTS	
APPENDIX IV: COMPOSITION OF SOLUTIONS	
L15 PLATING MEDIUM	100
ENZYME	100
AMC F-12 MEDIUM	100
MAH MEDIUM.	
AMC DMEM MEDIUM	101
REFERENCES.	

LIST OF FIGURES

CHAPTER 1		
Figure	1.1. The chemosensing pathways in neonatal AMCs)
CHAPTER 2		
Figure	2.1. Aglycemia-evoked catecholamine release from a neonatal AMC29)
Figure	2.2. Quantification of aglycemia-evoked catecholamine secretion from cultured neonatal rat AMCs	L
Figure	2.3. Evidence for a glucose-insensitive population of neonatal AMCs	3
Figure	2.4. Comparison of secretory parameters in glucose-sensitive versus glucose-insensitive AMCs exposed to the depolarizing stimulus, high K ⁺	5
Figure	2.5. Comparison of the effects of different concentrations of glucose on catecholamine secretion from neonatal AMCs	8
Figure	2.6. General blockade of VGCCs with 2 mM Ni ²⁺ abolishes aglycemia	
-	-evoked catecholamine secretion in neonatal AMCs4	1
Figure	2.7. The L-type VGCC blocker nifedipine (10 μM) blocks aglycemia -evoked catecholamine secretion in neonatal AMCs42	3
Figure	2.8. Blockade of T-type VGCCs with 50 μ M Ni ²⁺ blocks aglycemia	~
	-evoked catecholamine secretion4	5
Figure	2.9. The effects of hypoxia and aglycemia, applied separately and together, on catecholamine secretion in neonatal AMCs4	8
CHAPTER 3		
Figure	3.1. Aglycemia- and high K ⁺ -evoked secretory responses in AMCs cultured in Nox and Chox	1
Figure	3.2. Comparison of aglycemia-evoked secretory parameters in neonatal	2
Figure	 3.3. Comparison of high K⁺-evoked secretory parameters in neonatal AMCs cultured in Nox versus Chox	5 6
APPENDIX		
Figure	I 1 Aglycemia-evoked secretory responses from invenile AMCs 7	3
Figure	 I.2. The aglycemia-evoked secretory response in juvenile AMCs does not require extracellular Ca²⁺	'5
	-	
APPENDIX		,
Figure Figure	II.1. Images of juvenile and neonatal rat adrenal slices	4
Figure	In slices	50
C	neonatal adrenal slices	8

APPENDIX III

Figure III.1. ATP release from cultured neonatal AMCs, juvenile slices,	
and whole neonatal adrenal glands	96
Figure III.2. Changes in ATP measured by Protocol 2	98

.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

.

ADP	Adenosine <i>dip</i> hosphate
AMC	Adrenomedullary chromaffin cell
AMP	Adenosine monophosphate
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
ATP	Adenosine <i>t</i> ri <i>p</i> hosphate
BBS	Bicarbonate-buffered saline
BK	Big conductance calcium-activated K^+ channel
С	Concentration
Ca ²⁺ _i	Intracellular calcium
CGA	Chromogranin A
CGB	Chromogranin B
Chox	Chronic hypoxia
DAPI	4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
F	Faraday's constant
fC	Femtocoulombs
Gluc	Glucose
Glut	Glucose transporter
HCSP	Highly calcium sensitive pool
HIF-2α	Hypoxia- <i>i</i> nducible factor 2α
IRP	Immediately releasable pool
K ⁺ _{ATP}	ATP-sensitive K ⁺ channel
K2p	Two-pore domain K ⁺ channel
K _{ir}	Inwardly-rectifying K ⁺ channel
MAH	v-myc infected, adrenal derived, HNK-1 ⁺

х

N	number of moles of catecholamines
n	number of oxidizable electrons
Nox	Normoxia
pA	Picoamp
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
Q	Quantal Charge
Q ^{1/3}	Cubed root of quantal charge
r	Radius
RLU	Relative light units
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SA	Sympathoadrenal
SgII	Secretogranin II
SK	Small conductance calcium-activated K^+ channels
TASK	TWIK-related acid sensitive K^+ channel
TH	Tyrosine hydroxylase
TRPC3	Canonical transient receptor potential channel type 3
TRPM4	Melastatin transient receptor potential channel type 4
V	Volume
VGCC	Voltage-gated calcium channel
VMAT	Vesicular monoamine transporter

xi

CHAPTER 1

General Introduction

The adrenal glands are paired bilateral endocrine glands which function as one of the primary effector organs of the stress response system in mammals. These highly vascularised organs lie superior to the kidneys and receive arterial blood from the suprarenal arteries and discharge venous blood via the suprarenal veins (Gray, 2005). The glands are innervated by the splanchnic nerve, which is a cholinergic nerve of the sympathetic division of the autonomic nervous system. The adrenal gland is separated into a steroid hormone-producing outer cortex and a catecholamine-producing inner medulla. The cortex is composed of cells which synthesize and release steroid hormones (mineralocorticoids, glucocorticoids, and gonadocorticoids) as part of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal stress axis. The catecholamine-producing cells of the adrenal medulla are round secretory cells called adrenomedullary chromaffin cells (AMCs). These cells, which are sympathetic postganglionic derivatives that have lost their postganglionic synthesize, store, and secrete a number of hormones (i.e., the catecholamines axons, noradrenaline and adrenaline) and other substances into the blood stream during the stress response. A central theme of this thesis is on the ability of these AMCs to act as *direct* metabolic sensors, especially in the perinatal period. There is a particular focus on whether or not these cells can act as low-glucose sensors, a property that could facilitate the critical catecholamine surge necessary for the proper transition of the neonate to extrauterine life. The following background summarizes several aspects of what is currently known about chromaffin cell biology.

Development of chromaffin cells

AMCs arise from a population of multipotent embryonic cells, called neural crest cells, which detach from the dorsal neural tube during embryogenesis (Fernandez-Espejo et al., 2005). During development, sympathoadrenal (SA) progenitor cells migrate ventrally from the apex of the neural tube to the dorsal aorta. During migration, these progenitors differentiate into distinct cell populations including sympathetic neurons, AMCs, carotid body glomus cells, and cells of the organ of Zuckerkandl (Fernandez-Espejo et al., 2005). Several factors are required for SA progenitor cells to differentiate into chromaffin cells; for instance, induction of a catecholaminergic phenotype requires SA progenitor cells to be exposed to bone morphogenetic proteins (Anderson, 1993). Exposure of SA progenitor cells to fibroblast growth factor induces tyrosine hydroxylase expression, the rate-limiting enzyme in catecholamine synthesis. On the other hand, nerve growth factor promotes differentiation of progenitor cells into neurons. Glucocorticoids, supplied via cells in the adrenal cortex, induce the expression of catecholamine synthesizing enzymes in AMCs, and prevent neuronal differentiation. Recently, it has been shown that the transcription factor hypoxia-inducible factor 2α (HIF- 2α) is required for the developmental expression of certain catecholamine-synthesizing enzymes (i.e. DOPA decarboxylase and dopamine-\beta-hydroxylase) in a SA progenitor cell line (Brown et al., 2009).

Organization and contents of chromaffin vesicles

AMCs store transmitters, hormones, and enzymes in membrane bound structures called vesicles. Each AMC contains approximately 10,000 vesicles, constituting 13.5% of the cytoplasmic volume (Crivellato *et al.*, 2008). These vesicles are 150-350 nm in diameter and are known as dense-core vesicles because they appear to have an opaque core when viewed in

electron microscopy. This dense appearance is in part due to the presence of soluble secretory proteins, called granins, in chromaffin vesicles. Three granins are present in chromaffin vesicles; chromogranin A (CGA), chromogranin B (CGB) and secretogranin II (SgII) (Machado *et al.*, 2010). These proteins constitute more than 80% of the soluble vesicular proteins and serve two primary purposes; they act as sorting proteins during vesicle formation, and increase catecholamine storage. Although they share the same principal functions, some differences exist; for instance, CGB has a 100x higher affinity for calcium (Ca²⁺) than CGA, and is also found in the nucleus where it may regulate transcription (Machado *et al.*, 2010).

Granins contain an N-terminal signal peptide which directs their movement to the endoplasmic reticulum and trans-golgi network, where they are shuttled into vesicles along with other molecules. The low pH and high Ca²⁺ environment of the trans-golgi network causes granins to aggregate with each other and with other vesicular molecules (i.e., catecholamines). Granins form dimers at pH 7.5, however at intravesicular pH (pH = 5.5) they form tetramers (Amatore et al., 2008). Moreover, at pH 5.5 their carboxylic side chains are deprotonated, allowing them to bind to positively charged catecholamines (Machado et al., 2010). These characteristics allow chromogranins to act as a high capacity and low affinity buffer of intravesicular molecules. For instance, CGA binds 32 moles of adrenaline per mol with a K_d of 2.1 mM (Videen et al., 1992). Because the theoretical osmolarity without the effect of chromogranins is >1500 mOsm, chromogranins allow chromaffin vesicles to store high concentrations of catecholamines without swelling (Machado et al., 2010). Indeed, chromaffin vesicles from CGA and CGB knockout mice contain roughly half the concentration of catecholamines compared to controls. Thus granins allow vesicles to store approximately 3×10^6 catecholamine molecules, corresponding to a concentration of 0.5 M (Wightman et al., 1991).

Catecholamines are synthesized by a series of enzymatic steps occurring in the cytosol and in the chromaffin vesicles. The first step is the rate limiting conversion of L-tyrosine to L-DOPA by the enzyme tyrosine hydroxylase. DOPA decarboxylase converts L-DOPA to dopamine, which is then transported into vesicles. There, it is converted to noradrenaline by the enzyme dopamine β -hydroxylase. Noradrenaline, either stays in the vesicle and is secreted, or it is transported back to the cytosol where is can be converted by phenylethanolamine Nmethyltransferase to adrenaline. Adrenaline is then transported back into vesicles to be secreted.

Although adrenaline and noradrenaline are the principal hormones secreted by chromaffin cells, a wide array of other substances are also secreted. These include glycoproteins, prohormone-processing enzymes, protease inhibitors, opioid peptides, peptides, monoamines (i.e., serotonin and dopamine), and nucleotides (i.e., ATP) (García *et al.*, 2006).

Stimulus-secretion coupling in chromaffin cells

In adult mammals catecholamine secretion by AMCs is initiated by splanchnic nerve activation. The splanchnic nerve releases acetylcholine onto AMCs activating nicotinic acetylcholine receptors and provoking membrane depolarization leading to trains of action potentials. This activates several types of voltage-gated Ca²⁺ channels (VGCCs) permitting Ca²⁺ influx across the plasma membrane. A heterogeneous population of VGCCs are present in chromaffin cells including the L-type, N-type, T-type, R-type, and P/Q-type (García *et al.*, 2006). Many factors can change the expression or relative importance of each VGCC type. For instance, in bovine chromaffin cells the population of VGCCs in the whole adrenal gland is different than in cultured chromaffin cells (Benavides *et al.*, 2004). Furthermore, different stimuli may specifically act on different types of VGCCs; for instance the L- and P/Q- types

have been reported to be critical for high K^+ -evoked secretion, while the N-type is more important for acetylcholine-evoked secretion (García *et al.*, 2006). Some evidence suggests that the P/Q-type appears to be closer to the secretory machinery than L-type VGCCs, which may have consequences for secretion.

The increase in intracellular Ca^{2+} (Ca^{2+}_{i}) following stimulation promotes fusion of vesicles with the cell membrane and the release of catecholamines. This process can activate at least two distinct pools of vesicles in AMCs. The immediately releasable pool (IRP) of vesicles is situated near the plasma membrane and these vesicles have a low affinity for Ca²⁺ (García et al., 2006). Single action potentials allow voltage-gated Ca²⁺ entry, creating a microdomain of high Ca^{2+} in the vicinity of the plasma membrane. At the mouth of the Ca^{2+} channel this microdomain can reach Ca^{2+} concentrations of ~200-300 μ M; however this collapses quickly as Ca^{2+}_{i} is buffered by cytosolic proteins (Berridge, 2010). Vesicles within this microdomain fuse with the plasma membrane and release catecholamines. The second pool of vesicles is a highly Ca^{2+} -sensitive pool (HCSP), located further from Ca^{2+} channels and therefore requiring a larger Ca^{2+}_{i} load in order to overcome the buffering capacity of the cytosol (García *et al.*, 2006). This pool of vesicles is stimulated by prolonged depolarization and produces asynchronous exocytosis. The expression of different isoforms of the Ca^{2+} -sensitive protein, synaptotagmin, has been proposed to differentiate these two distinct populations of vesicles (Schonn et al., 2008). Two populations of chromaffin vesicles have been reported in mouse AMCs based on the bimodal distribution of vesicular size (Grabner et al., 2005). These authors suggest that small vesicles are more 'fusigenic' and therefore are released during weak stimulation, while robust stimulation leads to the fusion of large vesicles. Whether these two pools of vesicles correspond to the IRP and the HCSP is unknown. Moreover distinct vesicular pools have been identified due to differences in intracellular location, mobility, and age (Duncan *et al.*, 2003).

Exocytosis of chromaffin vesicles can occur by either full fusion exocytosis or 'kiss-andrun' exocytosis (García *et al.*, 2006). In full fusion exocytosis the membrane of the vesicle fuses with the cell membrane and the entire contents of the vesicle are discharged. During kiss-andrun exocytosis fusion of the vesicle and cell membrane is incomplete, resulting in the formation of only a transient fusion pore. The small diameter of the fusion pore limits the release of catecholamines to soluble species, before the fusion pore is sealed and the vesicle is returned to the cytosol.

Role of the catecholamines in the perinatal mammal

Fetuses are completely dependent on their mothers for the transplacental exchange of oxygen (O₂) and carbon dioxide (CO₂). During birth, this exchange is impaired (e.g. by uterine contractions) leading to a decrease in blood O₂ (hypoxia) and an increase in CO₂/H⁺ (acid hypercapnia) in the fetus. These asphyxial stimuli act *directly* on neonatal AMCs and evoke catecholamine release via a non-neurogenic mechanism (Seidler & Slotkin, 1986; Thompson *et al.*, 1997; Munoz-Cabello *et al.*, 2005; Rico *et al.*, 2005). These catecholamines prepare the fetus for air-breathing by increasing fluid absorption and surfactant secretion in the lung, as well as increasing heart contractility (Hagnevik *et al.*, 1983; Sperling *et al.*, 1984). This response can be impaired by various factors, such as maternal nicotine exposure and birth by caesarean section (Irestedt *et al.*, 1984; Slotkin *et al.*, 1995). Impaired catecholamine secretion has been associated with increased risk of sudden infant death syndrome and respiratory distress at birth (Lagercrantz & Slotkin, 1986).

Chemosensing in AMCs

Neonatal AMCs are direct chemosensors that undergo membrane depolarization, voltagegated Ca²⁺ entry, and secretion of catecholamines in response to asphyxial stimuli as illustrated in Figure 1.1 (Mochizuki-Oda *et al.*, 1997; Thompson *et al.*, 1997; Munoz-Cabello *et al.*, 2005; Rico *et al.*, 2005). Hypoxia-evoked depolarization is facilitated by the closure of large conductance Ca²⁺-activated (BK) channels, small conductance Ca²⁺-activated (SK) channels, and delayed rectifier K⁺ channels (Thompson & Nurse, 1998). This is offset by the opening of ATPsensitive K⁺ channels (K⁺_{ATP}) which favours membrane hyperpolarization (Thompson & Nurse, 1998). On the other hand, hypercapnia activates an inward non-selective cation current as well as inhibits an outward K⁺ current leading to membrane depolarization in neonatal AMCs (Munoz-Cabello *et al.*, 2005; Buttigieg *et al.*, 2008).

Hypoxia-, acid-, and hypercapnia-evoked membrane depolarization leads to the entry of extracellular Ca²⁺ through L-type VGCCs (Mochizuki-Oda *et al.*, 1997; Thompson *et al.*, 1997; Munoz-Cabello *et al.*, 2005; Rico *et al.*, 2005). In addition, the T-type and N-type VGCCs appear necessary for the hypoxic response (Mochizuki-Oda *et al.*, 1997; Levitsky & Lopez-Barneo, 2009). Recently, the role of the T-type VGCC has come into question because it was not found in all AMCs and exposure to the specific T-type VGCC inhibitor mibefradil had no effect on hypoxia-evoked catecholamine secretion (Souvannakitti *et al.*, 2010). A second pathway has been proposed to mediate the acid-evoked rise in Ca²⁺; which requires Ca²⁺ release from internal stores and extracellular Ca²⁺ (Fujiwara *et al.*, 1994). This rise in Ca²⁺; leads to the exocytosis of vesicles containing catecholamines and ATP. During hypoxia, the increase in catecholamine secretion is primarily mediated through an increase in the frequency of quantal events, each of which is thought to arise from exocytosis of a single dense cored vesicle (García-

Fernández *et al.*, 2007a). By comparison, hypercapnia appears to increase catecholamine secretion primarily through an increase in mean quantal charge, which is proportional to the number of catecholamine molecules released during each exocytotic event (Munoz-Cabello *et al.*, 2005).

Effects of asphyxia

While sympathoadrenal neurosecretory cells are known to sense independently the asphyxial stimuli discussed above, during asphyxia these stimuli occur concurrently. Therefore it is important to understand how these stimuli interact. Lahiri and Delaney (1975) showed that afferent nerve fibres of carotid body, which contains chemoreceptor glomus cells of sympathoadrenal origin, showed a more-than-additive increase in spike frequency when hypoxia and hypercapnia were applied together. Although there is no conclusive evidence that these stimuli act together at the level of K⁺ channel inhibition (Peers, 2004), Ca²⁺_i levels are potentiated, but not in a synergistic manner, when hypoxia and hypercapnia are combined in carotid body glomus cells (Dasso *et al.*, 2000). This indicates that these stimuli synergize at some point during signal transduction.

There are several reports of synergistic effects of hypoxia and hypercapnia on catecholamine release. In whole adrenal gland of the newborn rat, Rico *et al.* (2005) found that acidic hypercapnia and hypoxia together produced a synergistic release of catecholamines. In addition, catecholamine release was greater in chromaffin-derived PC12 cells when hypoxia and acid were applied together than when hypoxia alone was applied (Peers, 2004). These studies indicate that at the cellular level, there may be synergistic relationships between asphyxial stimuli allowing for potentiated neurotransmitter release from chromaffin cells.

Figure 1.1. The chemosensing pathways in neonatal AMCs. Hypoxia activates an O_2 sensor in the cytoplasm of AMCs, which produces an intracellular messenger and decreases ATP. Decrease in ATP opens K^+_{ATP} channels, promoting membrane hyperpolarization. The hypoxiaproduced intracellular messenger closes several classes of K^+ channels, leading to membrane depolarization. The pH-sensitive pathway remains unknown, but may involve inhibition of acidsensitive background K^+ channels (e.g. TASK-1); however, the net result is membrane depolarization. Hypercapnia is proposed to cause intracellular acidification catalyzed by the enzyme carbonic anhydrase, leading to the opening of non-selective cation channels, and consequently, membrane depolarization. Membrane depolarization activates VGCCs, which allows the influx of extracellular Ca²⁺ across the plasma membrane. Increased Ca²⁺ promotes fusion of dense core vesicles with the plasma membrane and the release of catecholamines.



Developmental regulation of chemosensing

Hypoxia directly evokes catecholamine secretion from AMCs of perinatal rats, however this response is suppressed postnatally, coincident with the maturation of splanchnic innervation after the first postnatal week (Seidler & Slotkin, 1985). Moreover, in juvenile rats (> 2 weeks postnatal) denervation of the splanchnic nerve partially restores the direct hypoxia-evoked catecholamine release. Two theories have been proposed to account for this loss of chemosensitivity: (1) that *chronic* exposure to neurotransmitters released from the splanchnic nerve induces changes in gene expression that render AMCs no longer chemosensitive, and/or (2) that neurotransmitters *acutely* inhibit the channels that cause membrane depolarization.

Several lines of evidence suggest that most juvenile AMCs are unable to sense asphyxial stimuli. For instance, the majority of rat AMCs from postnatal day 1-3 respond to hypoxia after short term culture, however this response is absent in juvenile AMCs (Thompson *et al.*, 1997). Likewise, in thin adrenal slices, both the proportion of hypoxia- and hypercapnia-sensitive cells and the magnitude of the responses are significantly less in juveniles than in neonates (Munoz-Cabello *et al.*, 2005; García-Fernández *et al.*, 2007a). Similarly, in whole adrenal glands, acid-evoked catecholamine secretion in juveniles is less than half the secretion measured in neonates (Rico *et al.*, 2005).

This loss of chemosensing has been proposed to be mediated through chronic stimulation of the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor. Nicotine exposure *in utero* and *in vitro* abolishes the hypoxic response via upregulation of the K^+_{ATP} channel (Buttigieg *et al.*, 2008; Buttigieg *et al.*, 2009). Thus, during hypoxia more K^+_{ATP} channels will open and favour membrane hyperpolarization. However, in animals subjected to nicotine exposure *in utero*, the response to hypercapnia remains intact, suggesting that other mechanisms appear necessary to explain the

loss of hypercapnic chemosensitivity. Loss of hypoxia-sensing has also been proposed to be mediated by the developmental regulation of T-type VGCC (Levitsky & Lopez-Barneo, 2009). These channels are present in neonatal AMC where they appear necessary for the hypoxic response, however their expression decreases with age (Levitsky & Lopez-Barneo, 2009).

In contrast, there are several reports of hypoxia-sensing in *adult* rat chromaffin cells, where hypoxia leads to inhibition of K⁺ currents, a rise in $Ca^{2+}{}_{i}$, and catecholamine release (Mochizuki-Oda *et al.*, 1997; Lee *et al.*, 2000). Indeed, these studies reported that approximately 50% of *adult* chromaffin cells were hypoxia-sensitive with inhibition of the K⁺ current and a rise in $Ca^{2+}{}_{i}$. Further, acute neonatal and adult slices responded with similar increases in $Ca^{2+}{}_{i}$ in P5, P11, and 8 week old rats and this was not abolished by cholinergic blockers (Takeuchi *et al.*, 2001). In addition, hypoxia leads to depolarization in adult guinea pig AMCs through activation of a cation conductance (Inoue *et al.*, 1998).

Keating *et al.* (2004) have proposed that cultures of juvenile ovine AMCs are O_2 sensitive, and that the *acute* release of opioids from the splanchnic nerve blocks hypoxia-sensing. In these AMCs, combined μ - and κ -opioid agonists blocked the hypoxia-evoked rise in Ca²⁺_i and catecholamine secretion. This effect occurs through μ -receptor mediated enhancement of current through SK channels, and a κ -receptor mediated decrease in the conductance of BK channels. However, acute opioid receptor stimulation failed to prevent acid-sensing by isolated rat neonatal adrenal glands (Rico *et al.*, 2005). Thus, there may be species and/or stimulus-specific mechanisms which account for the loss of chemosensing in perinatal AMC.

Evidence for AMCs as glucosensors

In addition to O_2 and CO_2 , fetuses are completely dependent on their mothers for the transplacental facilitated diffusion of glucose. Although glucose is the primary metabolic fuel in the fetus, glycogenolysis and gluconeogenesis are absent *in utero* (Hay *et al.*, 1981). During normal birth this transport ceases, leading to a decrease in glucose (hypoglycemia) in the first few hours of life (Hagnevik *et al.*, 1983; Irestedt *et al.*, 1984; Srinivasan *et al.*, 1986; Tanzer *et al.*, 1997; Marom *et al.*, 2010). In the newborn hypoglycemia activates a counterregulatory surge in catecholamines and glucagon, and a fall in insulin (Cuezva *et al.*, 1982). These hormonal changes stabilize blood glucose by initiating glycogenolysis in liver hepatocytes (Hunter, 1969; Girard *et al.*, 1973b). Despite this response, over 2% of newborns experience hypoglycemia and require clinical intervention (DePuy *et al.*, 2009), increasing the risk of brain damage (Lucas *et al.*, 1988). Moreover, premature infants, newborns of diabetic mothers, and neonates small-for-gestational age are at increased risk of hypoglycemia, which is one of the leading causes of increased mortality and morbidity among these individuals (Williams, 1997).

In adult mammals, hypoglycemia acts via hypothalamic neurons to initiate the neurogenic release of catecholamines from AMCs, and on pancreatic α and β cells to evoke glucagon secretion and inhibit insulin release. However, pancreatic α cells are glucose-insensitive until several weeks after birth (Edwards *et al.*, 1972; Lernmark & Wenngren, 1972; Marliss *et al.*, 1973; Sodoyez-Goffaux *et al.*, 1979), and splanchnic innervation of the adrenal gland is immature in most neonatal mammals (including rats and humans) (Artal, 1980; Tomlinson & Coupland, 1990). In newborn rats, adrenalectomy or infusion with adrenergic antagonists prevents hepatic glycogen breakdown and causes severe hypoglycemia (Girard *et al.*, 1973a). It has recently been demonstrated that aglycemia produces membrane depolarization and a rise in

 Ca^{2+}_{i} in a subset of immortalized AMCs derived from embryonic day 14 fetal rat adrenal medulla (Piskuric *et al.*, 2008). These data suggest that counterregulatory changes in response to hypoglycemia require catecholamine secretion via a non-neurogenic mechanism in the newborn.

There is conflicting evidence of the effects of hypoglycemia on catecholamine secretion from *adult* AMCs. In adult rats, prolonged hypoglycemia (<4 mM) produced a dramatic increase in circulating catecholamines, and this effect was abolished by adrenalectomy but not by adrenal denervation (Khalil *et al.*, 1986). On the other hand, in isolated adult rat adrenal glands, hypoglycemia had no effect on catecholamine secretion (de Araujo *et al.*, 1999).

Mechanisms of glucosensing in other cell types

Direct glucose-sensing cells have been reported in the hypothalamus, the hepatic portal vein, the pancreas, the nodose ganglia, brain astrocytes, and the carotid body (Burcelin *et al.*, 2000; Pardal & Lopez-Barneo, 2002; Kang *et al.*, 2004; Quesada *et al.*, 2008). In most cells, the major regulatory step in glucose metabolism involves either the transport of glucose across the plasma membrane or the metabolism of glucose inside the cell. Following metabolism, an unknown metabolite is proposed to evoke membrane depolarization in these cells; however, the ion channels involved seem to be distinct for each cell type. Membrane depolarization leads to voltage-gated Ca^{2+} entry, followed by the release of neurotransmitters or hormones.

Glucose transport across the plasma membrane is facilitated by a family of glucose transporters (Glut). Glut2, the high flux transporter, facilitates glucose uptake by pancreatic β cells and is required for insulin secretion (Thorens, 2003). However, the importance of glucose transport for hypoglycemia-sensing cells is less clear. Mice lacking the Glut2 gene have

impaired hypoglycemia-induced glucagon secretion and impaired hepatoportal vein glucosensing, even though α cells of the pancreas do not express Glut2 (Burcelin *et al.*, 2000; Thorens, 2003). This suggests that the knockout of Glut2 affects α cells via some indirect mechanism. Moreover, Glut2 is ubiquitously expressed in the hypothalamus; however, Glut3 and Glut4 are the transporters present in glucosensing neurons (Kang *et al.*, 2004). Furthermore, Glut1, 3, and 4 are expressed in the carotid body, however Glut2 is not (García-Fernández *et al.*, 2007b). This heterogeneous population of glucose transporters suggests that a specialized transport process is not a critical step for glucosensing.

In contrast, there is growing evidence that the metabolism of glucose regulates glucosensing. In pancreatic α cells and dorsal vagal neurons inhibitors of cellular metabolism mimic the effect of aglycemia on membrane potential and secretion (Balfour & Trapp, 2007; Gromada *et al.*, 2007; Grabauskas *et al.*, 2009). Inhibition of glucose metabolism by the hexokinase inhibitor 2-deoxyglucose leads to catecholamine secretion in carotid body glomus cells (García-Fernández *et al.*, 2007b). However, dialyzing cells with high intracellular ATP does not block the aglycemia-induced inhibition of outward current (Pardal & Lopez-Barneo, 2002). Indeed, this is the pattern observed in hypothalamic orexin neurons, where glucose acts extracellularly to induce membrane depolarization (Burdakov *et al.*, 2006). In these neurons some intermediary of glucose metabolism probably acts as a second messenger, but this is neither ATP nor Ca²⁺_i. Moreover, in glucosensing cells of the hepatoportal vein, lactate or pyruvate abolishes the hypoglycemic response (Matveyenko & Donovan, 2006). In contrast, in the ventromedial hypothalamus and in orexin neurons lactate potentiates the increase in action potential frequency induced by hypoglycemia (Song & Routh, 2005; Gonzalez *et al.*, 2009).

The phosphorylation of glucose by hexokinase IV (glucokinase) appears to be the major regulatory step in cells which require glucose metabolism. Glucokinase is the rate-limiting enzyme in glucose metabolism, and therefore probably glucosensing; it catalyzes the phosphorylation of glucose into glucose-6-phosphate (Quesada et al., 2008). It is the lowest affinity hexokinase, and the only one without known feedback inhibition. Pharmacological inhibition of glucokinase potentiates the hypoglycemia-induced rise in Ca^{2+} , by lowering the ATP/ADP ratio (Dunn-Meynell et al., 2002). Furthermore, the addition of a glucokinase activator leads to a decrease in Ca^{2+}_{i} oscillations in hypoglycemia-sensing neurons (Kang *et al.*, Knockdown of glucokinase results in an almost complete loss of hippocampal 2006). glucosensing neurons (Kang *et al.*, 2006). Glucokinase appears to be expressed in pancreatic α cells and glucosensing cells of the hepatoportal vein; however its physiological importance remains to be elucidated (Heimberg et al., 1996; Burcelin et al., 2000). Further, single-cell RT-PCR revealed that glucokinase is expressed in only 43% of hippocampal hypoglycemia-sensing neurons (Kang et al., 2004). Moreover, it is not expressed in carotid body glomus cells, and inhibition of glucokinase has no effect on orexin neurons (García-Fernández et al., 2007b; Gonzlez et al., 2008). Thus, glucokinase appears to be important in some cell types, but there must be other mechanisms involved in the regulation of glucosensing.

In general, metabolism of glucose into ATP is a necessary step leading to membrane depolarization. In pancreatic α cells, hypoglycemia decreases ATP leading to the opening of the K⁺_{ATP} channel (Quesada *et al.*, 2008). Opening of this channel hyperpolarizes the cell to a membrane potential which removes inactivation of T-type VGCC, leading to Ca²⁺ influx and depolarization of the cell towards threshold. At this point voltage-gated Na⁺ channels open leading to regenerative action potentials. In α cells hyperglycemia closes the K⁺_{ATP} channel

depolarizing the membrane; however no action potentials are produced due to the inactivation of the majority of the voltage-gated Na⁺ channels. In contrast, hyperglycemia closes K_{ATP}^{+} channels in pancreatic β cells leading to membrane depolarization and action potential firing (Thorens, 2003). In rat dorsal vagal neurons hypoglycemia decreases ATP, leading to inhibition of the Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase combined with closure of a background K⁺ channel with TASK-like properties (Balfour & Trapp, 2007). In arcuate nucleus neurons, hypoglycemia closes the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator, a Cl⁻ channel, leading to membrane depolarization (Fioramonti et al., 2007). Long periods (~10 minutes) of aglycemia leads to the development of a mixed Na⁺/K⁺ current in striatal spiny neurons (Calabresi et al., 1997). Glucose acts extracellularly through an unknown second messenger to close a two-pore-domain K⁺ channel (K2p) in orexin neurons (Burdakov *et al.*, 2006). However, because orexin neurons in K2p knockout mice are still glucosensitive, closure of the inward rectifying K_{ir} or SK channels have been proposed to mediate glucosensing (Guyon et al., 2009). Carotid body glomus cells, which are developmentally related and functionally similar to AMCs, respond to hypoglycemia by closure of a K⁺ channel along with opening of a TRP-like channel, possibly of the TRPC3 subtype (García-Fernández et al., 2007b). In another study, hypoglycemia was found to produce membrane depolarization by activation of a TRPM4 channel in a subpopulation of brain astrocytes (Chen & Simard, 2001). This channel is coupled to the ATP-sensitive sulfonylurea receptor subunit rendering the cation channel ATP-sensitive (Chen & Simard, 2001).

Carbon Fiber Amperometry

The fusion of a vesicle with the cell membrane and extrusion of its contents is known as exocytosis. Carbon fiber amperometry was developed to measure the exocytosis of single

vesicles of oxidizable material (Wightman *et al.*, 1991). In amperometry, a carbon fiber microelectrode is held at a constant potential sufficient to oxidize the molecule of interest and the current is measured over time. Carbon fiber electrodes typically have a radius of 5 μ m, which is small enough to measure exocytosis from a single chromaffin cell (diameter: ~15 μ m).

Exocytosis proceeds by several steps identified using the patch-amperometry technique. In this technique a carbon fibre microelectrode is used to measure catecholamine secretion from a single patch-clamped chromaffin cell whereas the patch clamp recording is used to measure changes in cell capacitance, which is proportional to surface area. When vesicles fuse with the plasma membrane, the capacitance increases, and catecholamines can be measured as a current at the carbon fibre microelectrode. The first detectable step is the movement of the neurohormone or transmitter through a transient fusion pore. The fusion pore is an aqueous channel created by the initial fusion of the vesicle with the plasma membrane. Neurohormones that are not bound to granins in the vesicular matrix can move through this channel and be detected; this signal is known as a "foot". In "kiss-and-run" exocytosis, the vesicle then retracts from the cell membrane and transmitter release ceases. In full fusion exocytosis there is a sharp increase in the current to the peak amplitude. This is due to opening of the fusion pore and an increase in free catecholamines as they lose their affinity for granins. There is then a slow decay back to baseline. These current spikes have been observed in many different cell types, including chromaffin cells, mast cells, β -cells, and neurons.

The area under each current spike gives the quantal charge (Q), and the relationship between quantal charge and number of catecholamine molecules per vesicle is given by the equation:

$$Q = nFN$$

Where n is the number of oxidizable electrons (2 per catecholamine molecule), F is Faraday's constant, and N is the number of moles of catecholamines. The number of moles of catecholamines is a product of the concentration of catecholamines in a vesicle (C) and the vesicular volume (V), therefore:

$$Q = nFCV$$

If it is assumed that the concentration of catecholamines is constant, then:

 $Q \propto V$

Since vesicles are approximately spherical, the volume is given by:

$$V = \frac{4}{3}\pi r^3$$

Therefore:

$$Q \propto \frac{4}{3}\pi r^{3}$$
$$Q \propto r^{3}$$
$$Q^{\frac{1}{3}} \propto r$$

Thus, $Q^{1/3}$ is proportional to vesicular radius when the concentration of catecholamines is constant. This may be a good assumption, given the distribution of vesicular radii calculated with this method is similar to the distribution measured by electron microscopy (Finnegan *et al.*, 1996). Moreover, this method shifts the distribution curve for quantal charge from a right-skewed distribution to a Gaussian distribution which allows for easier statistical analysis.

Several experimental factors are important in measuring catecholamines from vesicles during fusion. Catecholamines are mostly bound to chromogranins, and vesicles have a very high concentration of soluble molecules, much higher than the isotonic extracellular solution (~315 mOsM). Reducing this osmotic gradient through a hypertonic solution (630 mOsm)

reduces current spikes and decreases the number of catecholamine molecules secreted (Borges *et al.*, 1997). On the other hand, hypotonic solutions increase the mean quantal charge. The intravesicular pH is approximately 5.5, which creates a large proton gradient relative to the extracellular face (pH = 7.4). This pH gradient is critical in catecholamine release, as the affinity of granins for catecholamines is pH-dependent. Increasing extracellular pH increases the proton gradient resulting in a larger quantal charge. In addition, other factors such as temperature, ionic composition, and time in culture can affect quantal charge (Jankowski *et al.*, 1992; von Ruden & Neher, 1993; Pihel *et al.*, 1994; Tang *et al.*, 2005).

Organization of this thesis

The primary hypothesis of this thesis is that newborn rat AMCs respond to a decrease in glucose (hypoglycemia or aglycemia) via voltage-gated Ca^{2+} entry and catecholamine secretion. A general introduction to this topic and rationale for this hypothesis is presented in Chapter 1. The principal model used in these experiments was an *in vitro* culture preparation of primary newborn rat AMCs. Carbon fiber amperometry allowed for the detection of catecholamine release from cells in culture. Furthermore, the use of different VGCCs blockers enabled me to probe for the contributions of different VGCCs subtypes in the aglycemia response. The results from these experiments are presented in Chapter 2. In Chapter 3, I present my results examining the effects of chronic hypoxia on aglycemia-evoked secretion. Chemosensory responses from rat AMCs proved difficult measure in an *in vitro* model; some of the difficulties and attempted solutions are presented in Appendix I. In response to these difficulties, an adrenal gland slice preparation was developed thereby avoiding the enzymatic treatments required for cultured cells; the preliminary results from this project are presented in Appendix II. Since ATP is co-stored

along with catecholamines in chromaffin vesicles, I attempted to measure ATP secretion is dispersed neonatal AMCs, juvenile adrenal slices, and whole neonatal adrenal glands. My attempts at measuring ATP secretion are presented in Appendix III. The formula for the medium used in these studies is presented in Appendix IV.

CHAPTER 2

Neonatal adrenomedullary chromaffin cells secrete catecholamines in response to low

glucose

SUMMARY

The effects of low glucose on catecholamine secretion from neonatal adrenomedullary chromaffin cells (AMCs) were investigated using carbon fiber amperometry. Low glucose evoked a robust secretory response from a subset of neonatal AMCs resulting in increased catecholamine secretion. Aglycemia (0 mM glucose) increased both the frequency of quantal vesicular release and mean quantal charge. In contrast, mild hypoglycemia increased the frequency but had little effect on quantal charge. In addition to these glucose-sensitive AMCs, there was a population of glucose-insensitive AMCs which showed no change in catecholamine secretion in response to aglycemia. These glucose-insensitive AMCs appeared healthy as demonstrated by their robust high K⁺-evoked secretion, which was similar to that seen in glucose-sensitive AMCs.

The requirement for voltage-gated Ca^{2+} channel (VGCC) activation during the aglycemia-evoked secretory response was also tested. The general VGCC blocker Ni²⁺ (2 mM) abolished this secretory response. The fact that even low concentrations of Ni²⁺ (50 μ M) also inhibited the aglycemia-evoked secretory response suggested the involvement of T-type VGCC. Moreover, the specific L-type VGCC blocker nifedipine (10 μ M) was also effective in inhibiting the aglycemia-evoked secretory response, suggesting that the overall aglycemia-evoked catecholamine secretion in neonatal AMC requires the influx of Ca²⁺ through both T-type and L-type VGCCs.

Because newborns are often exposed to hypoxia and low glucose in concert, for example during the asphyxia associated with uterine contractions at birth, and given that each stimulus could separately evoke catecholamine secretion, the combined effect of these two stimuli on secretion was investigated. Together, hypoxia and aglycemia caused an increased secretory response when compared with the effect of either stimulus in isolation, though it was unclear whether this was attributable to an increased frequency of quantal events. Taken together, these results suggest that both hypoxia and aglycemia are key contributors to the critical catecholamine surge required for the proper transition of the neonate to extrauterine life.

INTRODUCTION

Occlusion of the umbilical cord at birth prevents the transfer of O_2 and CO_2 , producing fetal hypoxia and hypercapnia. This leads to a robust increase in circulating catecholamines which prepares the fetus for life outside the womb by increasing heart contractility, initiating lung fluid absorption, and activating lung surfactant secretion (Lagercrantz & Slotkin, 1986). In addition to O_2 and CO_2 , glucose transport from the mother to the fetus is terminated at birth. This is critical since glucose is the primary metabolic fuel of the fetus, and fetuses are incapable of producing glucose by glycogenolysis or gluconeogenesis (Hay *et al.*, 1981). This results in a severe hypoglycemia in the first few hours of life (Hagnevik *et al.*, 1983; Irestedt *et al.*, 1984; Srinivasan *et al.*, 1986; Tanzer *et al.*, 1997; Marom *et al.*, 2010). In the newborn, hypoglycemia activates a counterregulatory surge in catecholamines which stabilizes blood glucose by activating hepatic glycogen breakdown (Hunter, 1969; Girard *et al.*, 1973b; Cuezva *et al.*, 1982).

Hypoxia and hypercapnia act *directly* on neonatal AMCs to evoke membrane depolarization, voltage-gated Ca^{2+} entry, and catecholamine secretion (Mochizuki-Oda *et al.*, 1997; Thompson *et al.*, 1997; Munoz-Cabello *et al.*, 2005). Moreover, this property is

developmentally regulated and is lost along a time course similar to maturation of splanchnic innervation of the adrenal gland (Seidler & Slotkin, 1986). Recently, a subset of immortalized embryonic AMCs were shown to undergo membrane depolarization and a rise in Ca^{2+}_{i} in response to aglycemia (Piskuric *et al.*, 2008). In this study I tested the hypothesis that neonatal AMCs respond to low glucose via voltage-gated Ca^{2+} entry and catecholamine secretion.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animal Procedures

Pregnant Wistar rats (Charles River, Quebec, Canada) were delivered to our animal care facility and gave birth naturally two weeks later. They were given *ad libitum* access to food and water and kept under a 12 h light-dark cycle at 22°C. Newborn rats (0-2 days old) were rendered unconscious by a blow to the back of the head and then killed by decapitation before removal of the adrenal glands. All procedures and experiments were approved by the Animal Research and Ethics Board at McMaster University, according to the Canadian Council for Animal Care guidelines.

Cell Culture Method

Adrenal glands were removed from postnatal day 0 (P0) rats and placed in L-15 plating medium (See Appendix IV). Most of the surrounding cortical tissue was removed and discarded, and the remaining medullary regions were incubated for 1 h at 37°C in an enzymatic solution containing 0.1% trypsin (Gibco), 0.1% collagenase (Gibco), and 0.01% deoxyribonuclease (Millipore). Following digestion, the enzymatic solution was removed and replaced with a modified F-12 medium (GIBCO) supplemented with 5% fetal calf serum (GIBCO), 80 U/l insulin (Sigma), 0.6% glucose, 1% penicillin and streptomycin (GIBCO), and 0.01%
dexamethasone (Sigma). The medullary tissue was then mechanically dissociated using forceps, triturated with a Pasteur pipette, and the dispersed cells pelleted by centrifugation. Cells were then plated into culture dishes in modified F12 medium. They were grown at 37° C in an incubator with a humidified atmosphere of 95% air/5% CO₂ for 1-2 days before experiments were performed.

Immunofluorescence

Cultured AMCs were grown on a glass coverslip attached to a modified cell culture dish. Cultures were rinsed in pre-warmed (37°C) phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) before fixation for 1 hour at -20°C in 95% methanol/5% acetic acid. Cells were then washed 3 times for 3 minutes each in PBS, before incubation overnight with polyclonal tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) antibody (rabbit, 1:2000 dilution; Chemicon, El Segundo, CA, USA) at 4°C. They were then washed 3 times for 10 minutes each in PBS then incubated in FITC-conjugated secondary antibody (goat anti-rabbit IgG, 1:50 dilution; Cappel, Malvern, PA, USA) for 1 hour in the dark. Cells were washed 3 times for 3 minutes each in PBS, and then Vectashield (Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA) was added to prevent photobleaching. Immunostaining was visualized with a Zeiss (IM35) inverted microscope equipped with epifluorescence.

Carbon Fiber Amperometry

Cell cultures were placed on the stage of an inverted microscope (Accu-Scope 3030) and perfused under gravity with a HEPES-buffered recording solution at pH 7.4 (see below). Catecholamine secretion was monitored by placing a ProCFE carbon fiber electrode (Dagan) in close apposition to the plasma membrane of an AMC. The electrode was connected to a CV 203BU headstage and an Axopatch 200B amplifier set at +800 mV. Data were filtered at 100 Hz and digitized at 250 Hz using Clampex 9.2 (Axon Instruments) and subsequently analyzed with Clampfit 9.2 (Axon Instruments). Individual secretory events were rejected if they were below 2.58 times the standard deviation (99% confidence interval) of the baseline noise (typically 1-3 pA) and did not have an exponential decay. The quantal charge was measured as the integrated area under each spike, and the mean quantal charge per cell was used for analysis (Colliver *et al.*, 2000). The Q^{1/3} was calculated by taking the cube root of quantal charge. Frequency was calculated as the number of single quantal events per minute and secretion rate was measured as the cumulative charge resulting from the sum of successive quantal events over a given time interval. AMCs were considered glucosensitive if there was a >2 fold increase in secretion rate when cells were exposed to aglycemia (i.e. 0 mM glucose) compared to control (5 mM glucose). Furthermore, only healthy cells, i.e. those which responded to high K⁺ (30 mM KCl) with robust catecholamine secretion were analyzed for responses to low glucose.

Solutions

HEPES-buffered saline contained (mM): NaCl, 135; HEPES, 10; glucose, 0-10; sucrose, 10-0; KCl, 5; CaCl₂, 2; MgCl₂, 2 at pH= 7.4. The concentration of glucose ranged from 10 mM to 0 mM and the osmolarity was kept constant by equimolar substitution with sucrose. Solutions were made hypoxic (PO₂ ~15 mmHg) by bubbling HEPES-buffered saline with 100% N₂ gas. High K⁺ (30 mM K⁺) solutions were kept at constant osmolarity by equimolar substitution with NaCl. Nickel and nifedipine were purchased from Sigma and 1000x stock solutions were made fresh before each experiment.

Statistical Analysis

Results are expressed as the mean \pm S.E.M. Statistical comparisons were performed with Student t-tests or ANOVA where appropriate.

RESULTS

Aglycemia-evoked changes in catecholamine secretion

When the perfusion solution was changed from one containing 5 mM glucose to another with 0 mM glucose there was a robust secretory response from some neonatal AMCs (Fig 2.1A, middle). The reversible bursts of spike-like activity are qualitatively similar to the secretory responses evoked by hypoxia and hypercapnia in previous studies on neonatal AMCs (Munoz-Cabello *et al.*, 2005; García-Fernández *et al.*, 2007a). Each spike represents the release of a single secretory vesicle (i.e. a quantum) containing catecholamines (See Fig 2.1, lower). The fast rise time and slow exponential decay of these amperometric spikes is characteristic of vesicular catecholamine release (Wightman *et al.*, 1991). The large increase in cumulative charge during aglycemia was indicative of a robust catecholamine secretion induced by this stimulus (Fig 2.1, upper). Cultured neonatal AMCs stained positively for TH, the rate limiting enzyme in catecholamine synthesis, thus confirming the catecholaminergic phenotype of these cells (Fig 2.1B)

The increased catecholamine secretion during aglycemia could be attributable to an increase in frequency of exocytotic events, mean quantal charge, or both. Aglycemia increased the frequency of quantal events ~3.4 fold (Fig 2.2A) (p<0.001, n = 17 cells), and increased mean quantal charge ~2.7 fold (Fig 2.2B) (p<0.001, n = 17 cells). Q^{1/3}, a measure of vesicular radius, increased ~1.4 fold in 0 mM glucose compared to 5 mM glucose (Fig 2.2D) (p<0.001, n = 17 cells). In responsive cells, the secretion rate, estimated from the product of mean quantal charge

and event frequency, increased from 98.6 \pm 31.6 fC/min during 5 mM glucose to 789.8 \pm 236.5 fC/min during aglycemia (Fig 2.2C) (p<0.01, n = 17 cells).

Some cells showed no secretory response to aglycemia, but otherwise appeared healthy based on the presence of a robust high K⁺-evoked secretion (Fig 2.3A). In these cells exposure to 0 mM glucose did not result in a significant change in the frequency of quantal events (Fig 2.3A) (p>0.30, n =33 cells) or quantal charge (Fig 2.3C) (p>0.96, n = 33 cells). For this group, the basal secretion rate was 74.3 \pm 14.6 fC/min in normal glucose (5 mM) compared to 73.8 \pm 10.7 fC/min in 0 mM glucose (Fig 2.3D) (p>0.88, n = 33 cells). Moreover, there was also no change in Q^{1/3} in response to aglycemia in these cells (Fig 2.3E) (p>0.80, n = 33 cells).

To determine whether cells non-responsive to aglycemia (i.e. glucose-insensitive) were otherwise healthy, or at least were capable of generating Ca²⁺-mediated secretory responses, the effects of the depolarizing stimulus high K⁺ were tested. Both the glucose-sensitive and glucose-insensitive populations of AMC discussed above responded to high K⁺ with robust catecholamine secretion. There was no statistically significant difference in event frequency (Fig 2.4A), or mean quantal charge (Fig. 2.4B), between these two populations of cells. As a result, there was no significant difference in secretion rate (Fig 2.4C), and furthermore, there was also no change in Q^{1/3} (Fig 2.4D). Thus, the glucose-insensitive neonatal AMCs analysed in this study had intact mechanisms for stimulus-secretion coupling, but could have been missing a vital component (e.g. protein) required for low glucose-sensing. It should be noted that in the course of this study many cells (> 50) were encountered that failed to respond to high K⁺, but appeared normal under phase contrast microscopy. These cells were considered unhealthy and excluded from further analysis.

Figure 2.1. Aglycemia-evoked catecholamine release from a neonatal AMC. A, *upper*:, cumulative charge of catecholamine release corresponding to the cell below; *middle*: example of a robust secretory response in a single AMC in response to aglycemia; cell was exposed sequentially to control solution (5 mM glucose), aglycemia (0 mM glucose), and high K^+ (30 mM KCl) during the period indicated by upper horizontal bars; *lower*: expanded time scale trace of amperometric (current) spikes corresponding to the indicated time period during aglycemia; each spike represents the fusion of a single secretory vesicle. B, positive immunofluorescence staining of single and small clusters of neonatal AMCs for tyrosine hydroxylase (TH).

В





Figure 2.2. Quantification of aglycemia-evoked catecholamine secretion from cultured neonatal rat AMCs. A, aglycemia increased the frequency of single exocytotic events compared to normoglycemia (5 mM glucose). B, quantal charge increased during aglycemia. C, secretion rate, estimated from the product of mean quantal charge and frequency, increased during aglycemia. D, $Q^{1/3}$, a measure of vesicular volume, increased during aglycemia. Data were compared with a two-way Student's t-test (**p<0.01, ***p<0.001, n = 17 cells).

Master's Thesis - Simon Livermore - McMaster - Biology



32

Figure 2.3. Evidence for a glucose-insensitive population of neonatal AMCs. A, exemplar trace from a cell which failed to respond to aglycemia but displayed robust catecholamine secretion in response to high K⁺. B, lack of a change in quantal event frequency in response to aglycemia in these glucose-insensitive cells. Aglycemia evoked no change in mean quantal charge (C) or secretion rate (D) in glucose-insensitive cells. Also, there was no change in Q^{1/3} (a measure of vesicular radius), in these cells (E). Data were compared using a two-way Student's t-test (n = 33 cells).



Figure 2.4. Comparison of secretory parameters in glucose-sensitive versus glucoseinsensitive AMCs exposed to the depolarizing stimulus, high K⁺. A, after exposure to high K⁺ there was no significant difference in the frequency of single secretory events in glucosesensitive (open bars) and glucose-insensitive (closed bars) cells. There was no significant difference in mean quantal charge (B), or secretion rate (C), between glucose-sensitive and glucose-insensitive cells. Also, there was no significant difference in Q^{1/3} between these two populations of cells (D). Data were compared with a two-way Student's t-test (glucose-sensitive cells, n = 17 cells; glucose-insensitive cells, n = 33 cells).



High K⁺-evoked Catecholamine Secretion

Effects of different concentrations of glucose on catecholamine secretion

Aglycemia is not a normal physiological stimulus, though it is conceivable that this condition could exist transiently in pathological conditions. It was therefore of interest to test whether neonatal AMCs could mount a detectable catecholamine secretory response to intermediate glucose concentrations (3 mM). In these experiments, the perfusion fluid was switched sequentially from 5 mM glucose (control) to 3 mM glucose (hypoglycemia), and finally to 0 mM glucose (aglycemia), while continuously monitoring catecholamine secretion from the same cell (Fig. 2.5A). A secretory response was evident when glucose-sensitive neonatal AMCs were exposed to 3 mM glucose (hypoglycemia); however the response was smaller than that seen during 0 mM glucose (Fig 2.5A, lower). Exposing cells to hypoglycemia led to an apparent increase in the mean frequency of single quantal events, however, this effect was not statistically significant (Fig 2.5B). Though there was no significant difference in mean quantal charge or Q^{1/3} in response to hypoglycemia, there was, as expected, a significant increase in both parameters when the same cells were exposed to aglycemia (Fig 2.5C, E) (p<0.05, n = 7 cells). Nonetheless, there was a significant increase in total secretion rate when cells were exposed to hypoglycemia (3 mM glucose), compared to control (Fig 2.5D) (p<0.05, n = 7 cells).

Entry of extracellular Ca^{2+} through VGCC is required for aglycemia-evoked catecholamine release

Hypoxia-, acid-, and hypercapnia-evoked catecholamine secretion from neonatal AMC requires the entry of extracellular Ca²⁺ through VGCCs (Mochizuki-Oda *et al.*, 1997; Thompson *et al.*, 1997; Munoz-Cabello *et al.*, 2005; Rico *et al.*, 2005). Likewise, in the present study, the aglycemia-evoked secretory response was reversibly abolished by extracellular application of the

Figure 2.5. Comparison of the effects of different concentrations of glucose on catecholamine secretion from neonatal AMCs. In these experiments the *same* cells were exposed sequentially to 5 mM glucose (control), 3 mM glucose (hypoglycemia), and 0 mM glucose (aglycemia) as illustrated in A; *upper*: cumulative catecholamine secretion corresponding to the cell below; *lower*: exemplar trace of a neonatal AMC showing robust catecholamine secretion in response to both hypoglycemia and aglycemia. There was an apparent, but not statistically significant, increase in mean frequency during hypoglycemia (B) whereas mean quantal charge remained relatively unchanged (C). Nonetheless, relative to control, there was a significant increase in total catecholamine secretion during hypoglycemia and, as expected, aglycemia (D). Unlike aglycemia, however, there was no significant difference in $Q^{1/3}$ in response hypoglycemia relative to control (E). Data were compared with an ANOVA (*p<0.5, ***p<0.001, n = 7 cells).



general VGCC blocker Ni²⁺ (2 mM) (Fig 2.6A upper). Ni²⁺ (2 mM) decreased both the aglycemia-evoked increase in event frequency (Fig 2.6B) (p<0.01, n = 7 cells) and mean quantal charge to near basal values (Fig 2.6C) (p<0.05, n = 7 cells). As a result, Ni²⁺ (2 mM) abolished the aglycemia-evoked increase in catecholamine secretion from neonatal AMC (Fig 2.6D) (p<0.05, n = 7 cells). However, there was no statistically significant difference in Q^{1/3} in response to any treatment (Fig 2.6E). In these experiments, the secretory response to aglycemia recovered after wash-out of 2 mM Ni²⁺ (Fig. 2.6A). Indeed, after recovery the response to aglycemia appeared more robust (mean secretion rate = 1993 ± 873.1 fC/min; n = 7 cells) when compared to the original response (mean secretion rate = 773.4 ± 305.9 fC/min; n = 7 cells). This apparent enhancement was not attributable to an effect of Ni²⁺ because it was routinely observed during repeated exposures to aglycemia, even in the absence of Ni²⁺ (data not shown).

To investigate the potential role of L-type VGCC in the secretory response, the L-type channel blocker nifedipine (10 μ M) was used. Nifedipine abolished the aglycemia-evoked secretion from neonatal AMC, however recovery after washout of nifedipine was poor (Fig 2.7A upper). Nifedipine completely blocked the increase in event frequency due to aglycemia (p<0.001, n = 7 cells) (Fig 2.7B), though there was no statistically significant difference in mean quantal charge (Fig 2.7C). Consequently, nifedipine abolished the agylcemia-induced increase in catecholamine secretion (p<0.01, n = 7 cells) (Fig 2.7D). Also, there was no significant change in Q^{1/3} during any of the treatments (Fig 2.7E). These data indicate that the aglycemia-evoked catecholamine secretion requires the influx of extracellular Ca²⁺ through L-type VGCCs.

Recently, hypoxia-evoked catecholamine secretion in neonatal AMC has been proposed to require activation of T-type VGCC (Levitsky & Lopez-Barneo, 2009), however this Figure 2.6. General blockade of VGCCs with 2 mM Ni^{2+} abolishes aglycemia-evoked catecholamine secretion in neonatal AMCs. A, *upper*: representative trace of a neonatal AMC showing aglycemia-evoked catecholamine release before, during, and after 2 mM Ni^{2+} ; note reversible blockade of secretory response by 2 mM Ni^{2+} ; *lower*: cumulative charge corresponding to the same cell. Ni^{2+} blocked the aglycemia-evoked increase in event frequency (B), mean quantal charge (C), as well as catecholamine secretion rate (D). However, there was no significant difference in Q^{1/3} in response to any treatment (E). Data were compared with an ANOVA (*p<0.5, **p<0.01, n = 7 cells).





Figure 2.7. The L-type VGCC blocker nifedipine (10 μ M) blocks aglycemia-evoked catecholamine secretion in neonatal AMCs. A, *upper*: example of a glucose-sensitive AMC responding to aglycemia, and this response was blocked by nifedipine. Note repeated application of aglycemia resulted in blunted responses due to poor wash-out of nifedipine. *Lower*: cumulative charge for the cell above. B, nifedipine abolished aglycemia-induced increase in frequency. C, there was no statistically significant change in quantal charge in any group. D, nifedipine abolished the aglycemia-evoked increase in catecholamine secretion. E, there was no significant change in Q^{1/3} in any group. Data were compared with an ANOVA (*p<0.5, **p<0.1, ***p<0.001, n = 7 cells).



Figure 2.8. Blockade of T-type VGCCs with 50 μ M Ni²⁺ blocks aglycemia-evoked catecholamine secretion. A, *upper*: representative trace of aglycemia-evoked catecholamine secretion in a single neonatal AMC before, during, and after 50 μ M Ni²⁺, which reversibly inhibited the secretory response; *lower*: trace of cumulative secretion corresponding to the cell above. B, although there was no statistically significant change in frequency during aglycemia in this small sample (n= 4), 50 μ M Ni²⁺ significantly decreased the frequency of quantal events seen during aglycemia. C, also, 50 μ M Ni²⁺ abolished the aglycemia-evoked increase in quantal charge as well as the aglycemia-evoked increase in catecholamine secretion rate (D). However, there was no significant change in Q^{1/3} during any of the treatments (E). Data were compared with an ANOVA (*p<0.5, n = 4 cells).



hypothesis remains controversial (Souvannakitti *et al.*, 2010). In the present study, Ni²⁺ (50 μ M) at a concentration which blocks T-type, but not L-type, Ca²⁺ currents in neonatal AMCs (Levitsky & Lopez-Barneo, 2009), abolished aglycemia-evoked catecholamine secretion (Fig 2.8A upper). Although 50 μ M Ni²⁺ decreased the frequency of quantal events seen during aglycemia (p<0.05, n = 4) (Fig 2.8B), the usual increase in frequency that occurs during the switch from normal glucose (5 mM) to aglycemia was not significant in this group probably because of the small sample size (n = 4 cells). Nonetheless, blockade of T-type VGCCs abolished the aglycemia-evoked increase in mean quantal charge (p<0.05, n = 4 cells) (Fig 2.8C) as well as the increase in total catecholamine secretion (Fig 2.8D) (p<0.05, n = 4 cells). However, there were no statistically significant differences in Q^{1/3} among the various treatments (Fig 2.8E). Thus it appears that both L-type and T-type VGCCs are involved in the secretory response of neonatal AMCs to aglycemia.

Interactive effects of hypoxia and aglycemia

Neonatal AMCs display a robust secretory response when exposed to either low glucose or hypoxia. Therefore, I tested the hypothesis that aglycemia-evoked catecholamine secretion is potentiated when combined simultaneously with hypoxia. In 12 cells studied, 75% (n = 9/12) were hypoxia-sensitive, 58.3% (n = 7/12) were aglycemia-sensitive, and 100% (n = 12/12) were sensitive to the combined stimuli. In some cells there was no detectable secretory response to either hypoxia or aglycemia alone; however, combined application of both stimuli resulted in a robust secretory response that was larger than that due to a single stimulus (Fig 2.9A, lower). Data from these 12 cells were pooled to determine the *change* in secretory parameters (evoked minus basal). Although hypoxia and aglycemia together appeared to increase the frequency of Figure 2.9. The effects of hypoxia and aglycemia, applied separately and together, on catecholamine secretion in neonatal AMCs. A, *upper*: trace of cumulative secretion corresponding to the cell below, *lower*: exemplar trace of a single AMC which failed to respond to hypoxia or aglycemia applied separately, but produced robust secretion in response to the simultaneous application of both stimuli. B, although hypoxia and aglycemia combined appeared to increase event frequency, the effect was not statistically significant. C, there was no statistically significant increase in quantal charge in response to any stimulus. D, hypoxia and aglycemia together significantly increased catecholamine secretion rate in AMCs. E, there was no significant change in $Q^{1/3}$ regardless of the stimulus. Data were compared with an ANOVA (*p<0.5, n = 12 cells).

48



quantal events, this effect was not statistically significant (Fig 2.9B). Also, there was an apparent increase in mean quantal charge (Fig 2.9C). Hypoxia alone increased total catecholamine secretion rate by 200.3 \pm 65.3 fC/min compared to an increase of 184.4 \pm 99.7 fC/min for aglycemia (n = 12 cells) (Fig 2.9D). However, combined application of hypoxia and aglycemia increased catecholamine secretion rate to 561 \pm 145.0 fC/min, representing an ~2.8 fold increase over either stimulus alone (p<0.05, n = 12 cells). To determine if this interaction was additive or synergistic, I summed the secretion rate for hypoxia alone and aglycemia alone in each cell and then compared that sum to the secretion rate observed in response to combined hypoxia and aglycemia alone and hypoxia alone (360.3 \pm 123.8 fC/min) compared to hypoxia and aglycemia combined (357.8 \pm 108.5 fC/min), suggesting that these two chemostimuli interacted additively. While there was an apparent increase in Q^{1/3} when cells were exposed to hypoxia and aglycemia together, this effect was not statistically significant (Fig 2.9E).

DISCUSSION

In this study I present evidence for *direct* glucosensing mechanisms in neonatal AMCs, resulting in enhanced catecholamine secretion during exposure to low glucose. Hypoglycemia (3 mM glucose) and aglycemia (0 mM glucose) evoked a robust secretory response in neonatal AMCs and this response required the influx of Ca^{2+} across the plasma membrane facilitated by the opening of L-type and T-type VGCCs. Moreover, I found that many of these glucosesensitive cells were also hypoxia-sensitive, and that the simultaneous presence of hypoxia potentiated the aglycemia-evoked response.

The robust secretory response from neonatal AMCs was characterized by an increase in the frequency of quantal events and an increase in mean quantal charge. Interestingly,

hypoglycemia seemed to increase mainly quantal frequency, with little change on mean quantal charge. In contrast, hypoxia is known to increase the frequency of single quantal events whereas hypercapnia increases mean quantal size in neonatal AMCs (Munoz-Cabello et al., 2005; García-Fernández et al., 2007a). It is unclear why different stimuli would evoke different patterns of secretion in neonatal AMCs. In neonatal AMCs, hypoglycemia has been demonstrated to cause an increase in action potential frequency (Min Zhang, personal communication), which would be expected to increase the frequency of single quantal events (Zhou & Misler, 1995). Moreover, several intracellular signalling pathways are capable of acutely modifying quantal size; for instance, activation of the cAMP/PKA pathway increases guantal size (Machado et al., 2001) whereas nitric oxide decreases quantal size in AMCs (Machado et al., 2000). In addition, AMCs secrete a variety of paracrine and autocrine mediators including ATP, opioids, and somatostatin which are known to decrease quantal size via activation of the $G_{i/0}$ pathway (Chen et al., 2005). It is plausible that activation of different classes of VGCCs, coupled with their spatial distribution in the plasma membrane may activate different pools of dense-core vesicles, thereby regulating quantal size or frequency. In addition, the distribution of ion channel(s) involved in these responses to asphyxial stimuli may also play a key role in modifying secretion. For instance, hypercapnia activates a non-selective cation channel in neonatal AMCs and influx of Ca^{2+} through this channel may modulate Ca^{2+}_{i} signalling and modify secretion (Munoz-Cabello et al., 2005).

Aglycemia-evoked secretion requires activation of VGCCs

The influx of extracellular Ca²⁺ through both L-type and T-type VGCCs was required for aglycemia-evoked catecholamine secretion in neonatal AMCs. The requirement for L-type

VGCCs is consistent with the secretory response of these cells to hypoxia and hypercapnia (Thompson *et al.*, 1997; Munoz-Cabello *et al.*, 2005). However, although blockade of T-type VGCC with 50 μ M Ni²⁺ abolished hypoxia-evoked secretion in neonatal AMC (Levitsky & Lopez-Barneo, 2009), in a recent study the T-type VGCC blocker mibefradil (10 μ M) failed to affect hypoxia-evoked secretion (Souvannakitti *et al.*, 2010). In the latter study, the authors noted that T-type Ca²⁺ channel currents could not be identified in all cells. Therefore the role of T-type VGCC in chemosensing by neonatal AMCs remains controversial. These results could be explained, in part, by the use of different preparations, for example fresh tissue slices (Levitsky & Lopez-Barneo, 2009) versus dissociated cell cultures (Souvannakitti *et al.*, 2010). Though a role for T-type VGCC was demonstrated in AMC cultures in the present study, it is known that the expression of VGCCs in AMCs is exquisitely sensitive to differences in culture technique (Benavides *et al.*, 2004).

Glucose-insensitive cells and interactions between aglycemia and hypoxia

In addition to glucose-sensitive AMCs, a significant proportion of cells failed to respond to aglycemia with increased catecholamine-secretion. Despite this observation, the glucoseinsensitive population identified in this study mounted a robust high K^+ -evoked secretory response, as did their glucose-sensitive counterparts, suggesting that the lack of low glucose sensitivity was not attributable to a defective secretory pathway. It is plausible that these glucose-insensitive cells are still chemosensitive but may require a different stimulus, or a combination of weak stimuli, for detection of evoked catecholamine secretion. Indeed, I found evidence for stimulus interaction in experiments where two stimuli, i.e. hypoxia and aglycemia, were combined. In such cases, hypoxia and aglycemia combined to elicit a more robust

secretory response than either stimulus alone. Moreover a greater proportion of cells responded to the combined stimulus, including cells that failed to respond to separate application of the two stimuli. This may be relevant for catecholamine secretion from AMC *in vivo* because arterial PO₂ (90 mmHg) is much lower than atmospheric (150 mmHg). Moreover, most mammals are exposed to a chronically hypoxic environment *in utero* (PO₂ ~30 mmHg), suggesting that more cells are likely to be sensitive to the combination of these metabolic stimuli *in vivo* (Ream *et al.*, 2008). It should also be noted that perinatal AMCs express ATP-sensitive K⁺ channels (K⁺_{ATP}) which open during reduced ATP levels (Thompson & Nurse, 1998; Bournaud *et al.*, 2007; Buttigieg *et al.*, 2009), as occurs during both hypoxia and aglycemia, thereby blunting stimulus-induced membrane depolarization and secretion. Indeed, blockade of these K⁺_{ATP} channels with glibenclamide in immortalized fetal-derived AMC increased the proportion of cells responding to aglycemia with a detectable increase in Ca²⁺_i concentration (Piskuric *et al.* 2008). Thus, it is conceivable that relatively high K⁺_{ATP} expression levels in some neonatal AMC may have rendered them glucose-insensitive, when using secretion data as a reporter of responsive cells.

Role of Catecholamines in Perinatal Glucose Homeostasis

The counterregulatory hormonal changes that occur in response to hypoglycemia are similar in perinatal mammals and in adults, however the mechanisms underlying these changes differ. In adult mammals, neurons in the lateral hypothalamus sense hypoglycemia and initiate the sympathoadrenal release of catecholamines (Levin *et al.*, 2004). This contrasts with the situation in most mammals (including humans and rats) where splanchnic innervation of the adrenal gland is immature and non-functional at birth (Artal, 1980; Tomlinson & Coupland, 1990). In addition, hypoglycemia increases glucagon release from α cells and decreases insulin

secretion from β cells in the pancreas of perinatal and adult mammals, however neonatal α cells are glucose-insensitive until several weeks after birth (in the rat) (Edwards *et al.*, 1972; Lernmark & Wenngren, 1972; Marliss *et al.*, 1973; Sodoyez-Goffaux *et al.*, 1979). In human newborns, increases in circulating adrenaline and cortisol are the primary hormonal response to hypoglycemia (Jackson *et al.*, 2004). This suggests that in perinatal animals, hypoglycemia acts *directly* on AMCs to initiate catecholamine secretion, as demonstrated in the present study. The released catecholamines could then inhibit insulin release, and initiate glucagon secretion from the pancreas. Consequently, glucagon and catecholamines could both initiate hepatic glycogenolysis to correct perinatal hypoglycemia (Hunter, 1969; Girard *et al.*, 1973b).

Although the focus of my study was glucosensing in neonatal (P0) AMCs, the role of catecholamines in glucose homeostasis *in utero* is well established (Sperling *et al.*, 1984; Girard *et al.*, 1992). Maternal hypoglycemia or occlusion of the umbilical artery, which occurs occasional during development, produces hypoglycemia in the rat fetus (Czikk *et al.*, 2001). Fetal hypoglycemia leads to a surge in circulating catecholamines, and moreover, exogenous catecholamines can increase circulating glucagon and deplete liver glycogen (Girard *et al.*, 1972; Phillippe & Kitzmiller, 1981; Guarner & Alvarez-Buylla, 1992). Furthermore, infusion of insulin into pregnant ewes or their fetuses produces fetal hypoglycemia and a rise in fetal catecholamines (Harwell *et al.*, 1990; Burrage *et al.*, 2009). Also, infusion of catecholamines into the fetus decreases insulin secretion, triggers glucagon release, and leads to a rise in circulating glucose (Jones & Ritchie, 1978; Fowden, 1980; Sperling *et al.*, 1980; Bassett & Hanson, 2000). Critically, fetal adrenergic receptor blockade increases insulin secretion and reduces circulating glucose in the fetus, suggesting that catecholamines play a role in glucose homeostasis in the steady state *in utero* (Leos *et al.*, 2010). In human pregnancies complicated

54

by maternal diabetes, standard practice involves tight glycemic control to avoid the severe morbidities and mortalities associated with hyperglycemia *in utero* (ter Braak *et al.*, 2002). As a result, bouts of maternal hypoglycemia have increased, which produces fetal hypoglycemia and hypoinsulinemia (Rosenn *et al.*, 1995). This can produce changes in fetal heart rate and movement (Stangenberg *et al.*, 1983; Holden *et al.*, 1984; Langer & Cohen, 1984; Confino *et al.*, 1985; Bjorklund *et al.*, 1996) and increase surfactant in the amniotic fluid (Zapata *et al.*, 1994). These changes suggest that fetal AMCs are capable of responding to hypoglycemia with inappropriately timed catecholamine secretion.

During birth, the transport of wastes and nutrients across the umbilical cord is occluded and blood glucose decreases to a nadir of about 2-3 mM during the first 2 hours of life, before stabilizing at a higher level (Hagnevik *et al.*, 1983; Irestedt *et al.*, 1984; Srinivasan *et al.*, 1986; Tanzer *et al.*, 1997; Marom *et al.*, 2010). This hypoglycemia occurs in concert with hypoxia and acid hypercapnia to trigger the release of catecholamines, which prepares the fetus for extrauterine life. In human neonates, maternal glucose at birth is inversely correlated to the degree of hypoglycemia in the neonate an hour after birth (Srinivasan *et al.*, 1986). In rats, this is due to neonatal hyperinsulinemia and blunted catecholamine and glucagon secretion (Nurjhan *et al.*, 1985). This suggests the presence of hyperglycemia at birth blunts catecholamine secretion and prevents glycogenolysis producing neonatal hypoglycemia. Indeed, in one clinical trial, fetal stimulation of β -adrenoreceptors with terbutaline resulted in significantly higher blood glucose concentrations in newborns delivered by caesarean section (Eisler *et al.*, 1999).

In some newborns, hypoglycemia is more severe or prolonged, thereby increasing the risk of brain damage (Lucas *et al.*, 1988). Risk factors for hypoglycemia include prematurity, newborns of diabetic mothers, and small-for-gestational-age neonates (Williams, 1997). Infants

of diabetic mothers are born with hyperinsulinemia and the hypoglycemia-evoked counterregulatory surge in catecholamines and glucagon is absent (Stern *et al.*, 1968; Bloom & Johnston, 1972). This indicates aberrant catecholamine release from AMCs, and greatly increases the risk of morbidity and mortality in these newborns. Recently, adrenaline has been used to alleviate neonatal hypoglycemia, however, these authors found that intramuscular adrenaline injection was not as safe or as effective as glucose administration, either because of an insufficient dose or differences in the pattern required (Pedersen *et al.*, 2009). Therefore, uncovering the mechanisms of glucosensing in neonatal AMCs may provide a better understanding of the pathogenesis of hypoglycemia and possible therapeutic outcomes.

In conclusion, I have provided evidence for the *direct* intrinsic glucosensing properties of neonatal AMCs. In response to hypoglycemia, many of these cells activate signalling pathway(s) that result in voltage-gated Ca^{2+} entry, and secretion of catecholamines. Moreover, this response is potentiated by the presence of hypoxia. Catecholamines play a pivotal role in perinatal glucose homeostasis, the dysfunction of which increases the risk of perinatal morbidity and mortality. Glucose administration is the only currently accepted method of treating neonatal hypoglycemia. Therefore further work elucidating the mechanisms of glucosensing in neonatal AMCs may provide a better understanding of perinatal glucose homeostasis and lead to other clinical treatments.

56

CHAPTER 3

Effects of chronic hypoxia on aglycemia-evoked catecholamine secretion from neonatal adrenomedullary chromaffin cells

SUMMARY

During development fetuses are exposed to a chronically hypoxic (Chox) environment, which is essential for proper development. Circulating catecholamines protect the heart during bouts of hypoxia and are required for fetal survival. Here, I investigated the effects of Chox on aglycemia- and high K⁺ (30 mM KCl)-evoked catecholamine secretion from neonatal adrenomedullary chromaffin cells (AMCs). After Chox (2% O₂; 24 hrs), cells responded to aglycemia with an augmentation in the frequency of quantal events, quantal charge (Q), Q^{1/3}, and secretion rate relative to cells raised under normoxia (Nox; 21% O₂; 24 hrs). Although these parameters, as applied to basal secretion, appeared to be similarly increased after Chox, the effect was not statistically significant. To determine whether the augmentation was specific for aglycemia-evoked secretion, the secretory parameters were compared between Chox and Nox cells exposed acutely to high K⁺. Pre-treatment with Chox resulted in no statistically significant change in quantal frequency during high K⁺ exposure. However, there was a significant increase in mean quantal charge, Q^{1/3}, as well as a substantial increase in secretion rate.

INTRODUCTION

Mammalian embryos develop in a constitutively hypoxic environment. While this is necessary for proper development, severe hypoxia can also lead to a drastic decrease in heart rate (i.e. bradycardia) (Giaccia *et al.*, 2004). Though this bradycardia can in turn lead to prenatal

death, the severity of the effect is blunted by a rise in circulating catecholamines (Ream *et al.*, 2008). Indeed in catecholamine-deficient mice, resulting from knockout of the tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) gene, death occurs due to cardiac failure at embryonic day (E11.5-15), and this phenotype can be rescued by administration of noradrenaline agonists (Zhou *et al.*, 1995). Alternatively, increasing maternal O_2 supply (33-63% O_2) also rescues TH-deficient mice and restores the wild-type phenotype (Ream *et al.*, 2008).

Interestingly, knockout of the transcription factor hypoxia inducible factor (HIF) 2α (HIF- 2α) results in the same phenotype as TH null mice (Tian *et al.*, 1998). During chronic hypoxia HIF- 2α stabilizes and translocates to the nucleus where it initiates changes in gene expression (Giaccia *et al.*, 2004). During fetal development HIFs promote growth processes such as hematopoiesis, chondrogenesis, and angiogenesis (Tomanek *et al.*, 1999; Schipani *et al.*, 2001; Semenza, 2004), and moreover, HIF- 2α is required for the developmental expression of downstream catecholamine biosynthetic enzymes, i.e. DOPA decarboxylase and dopamine- β -hydroxylase, in chromaffin cells (Brown *et al.*, 2009).

The few studies which have examined the effects of Chox on catecholamine secretion have provided conflicting evidence. In the phaeochromocytoma cell-line (PC12) Chox augments acute hypoxia-evoked catecholamine secretion via an increase in event frequency and mean quantal size (Taylor *et al.*, 1999). Moreover, Chox upregulated T-type VGCC in *adult* AMCs producing an increase in basal catecholamine secretion (Carabelli *et al.*, 2007). In contrast, hypoxia-evoked catecholamine secretion was attenuated when neonatal rats were reared in a Chox environment (Souvannakitti *et al.*, 2010). Exposure of isolated neonatal AMCs to Chox *in vitro* augmented the acute hypoxia- and high K⁺-evoked catecholamine secretion and these effects were partly attributable to the HIF-2 α -dependent upregulation of the adenosine 2a

receptor, combined with paracrine effects of released adenosine (Brown, 2009). Chox also upregulated several proteins involved in the packaging of catecholamines into dense-core vesicles in a fetal-derived immortalized chromaffin cell line and as a result the mean quantal charge increased following Chox (Brown & Reyes, unpublished observations).

Recently, it has been proposed that the canonical transient receptor potential channel (TRPC3) mediates glucosensing in carotid body glomus cells (García-Fernández *et al.*, 2007b). This non-selective cation channel is expressed in neonatal AMCs and in an immortalized chromaffin cell line, and moreover, its expression is upregulated during Chox in a HIF-2 α -dependent manner (Stephen Brown, personal communication). Given this evidence, I hypothesised that Chox may augment aglycemia-evoked catecholamine secretion from neonatal AMCs. It was expected that this work would help clarify the role of Chox in catecholamine secretion from neonatal AMCs and aid in understanding the interaction between Chox and aglycemia in the perinatal period.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animal Procedures

Animal care and handling was performed as described in Chapter 2.

Cell Culture Method

Preparation of neonatal AMC cell culture was done as described in Chapter 2, with slight modifications. After sister cultures of neonatal AMCs were prepared, half of them were placed in a normoxic (Nox; 21% O_2) incubator with 95% air/5% CO_2 , whereas the remainder were

placed a in a hypoxic incubator ($2\% O_2/5\% CO_2/93\% N_2$). Cells were kept in these incubators for 24 hours before experiments were performed.

Carbon Fiber Amperometry

These experiments were done as described in Chapter 2.

Solutions

Solutions used were described in Chapter 2.

Statistical Analysis

Data represent mean + S.E.M. and were compared with a two-way ANOVA.

RESULTS

Chronic hypoxia augments aglycemia-evoked secretion

As discussed in Chapter 2, and further illustrated in Figure 3.1A (upper) aglycemia led to a robust secretory response from neonatal AMCs cultured in normoxia (Nox; 21% O_2 ; 24 hrs). This resulted in a substantial increase in total catecholamine secretion per unit time as measured by amperometry (Fig 3.1A lower). As exemplified in Figure 3.1B (upper), neonatal AMCs cultured for 24 hr under chronic hypoxia (Chox; 2% O_2 ; 24 hrs) showed a marked potentiation in the secretory response to aglycemia, resulting in a catecholamine secretory rate that was even larger than that seen for Nox cells (Fig 3.1B lower; note different fC scales in A and B).

Relative to basal, aglycemia-evoked a ~2.4 fold increase in quantal frequency in Nox and Chox cells (Fig 3.2A, p<0.001). However, the magnitude of basal (5 mM) and aglycemia-
Figure 3.1. Aglycemia- and high K^+ -evoked secretory responses in AMCs cultured in Nox and Chox. A, *upper*: a representative trace of a single normoxic (Nox; 21% O₂, 24 hrs) neonatal AMC showing a robust secretory response when exposed acutely to aglycemia and high K^+ (30 mM); *lower*: trace shows cumulative charge, indicative of total catecholamine secretion, corresponding to the cell above. B, *upper*: example of a chronically hypoxic (Chox; 2% O₂; 24 hrs) neonatal AMC showing robust catecholamine secretion to aglycemia and high K^+ , *lower*: cumulative charge corresponding to the cell above.



Figure 3.2. Comparison of aglycemia-evoked secretory parameters in neonatal AMCs grown in normoxia (Nox) versus chronic hypoxia (Chox). A, quantal event frequency in Nox versus Chox cells. B, mean quantal charge measured in Nox versus Chox cells. Comparison of catecholamine secretion rate (C) and $Q^{1/3}$ (D) in cells cultured in Nox versus Chox. All data were obtained from sister cultures of AMCs grown in Nox (21% O₂, 24 hrs; n = 15) or Chox (2% O₂, 24 hrs; n = 9). Data were analyzed with a two-way ANOVA (in group comparison, i.e. 5 mM glucose in Nox vs. 0 mM glucose in Nox, and between group comparison, i.e. 5 mM glucose in Nox vs. 5 mM glucose in Chox) (*p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001).



evoked frequency was ~1.7 fold higher in Chox cells compared to Nox-treated cells. Overall, when exposed to aglycemia Chox-treated cells had a statistically significant increase in frequency compared to Nox cells exposed to aglycemia (p<0.05).

Likewise, quantal charge increased ~2.2 fold in response to aglycemia in Nox cells and Chox-treated cells (p<0.001) (Fig 3.2B). Furthermore, the mean quantal charge appeared higher in Chox cells exposed to 5 mM glucose compared to Nox cells exposed to 5 mM glucose; however this was not statistically significant. Moreover, when both groups of cells were exposed to aglycemia the mean quantal charge was ~1.7 fold higher in Chox cells than in Nox cells (p<0.05). Similarly, $Q^{1/3}$ increased when both groups of cells were exposed to aglycemia (p<0.001), and Chox augmented $Q^{1/3}$ only when cells were exposed to aglycemia (p<0.05).

Changes in secretion rate (fC/min) reflect the combination of changes in both frequency and quantal charge (Fig 3.2C). Aglycemia increased the secretion rate ~5.3 fold in Nox cells and ~3.8 fold in Chox cells (p<0.001, two-way ANOVA). Though basal secretion was ~4 fold higher in Chox cells compared to Nox cells, this effect was not statistically significant. However, aglycemia-evoked secretion was significantly higher in Chox-treated cells compared to Nox-treated cells (p<0.01, two-way ANOVA).

Chronic hypoxia modifies high K^+ -evoked secretion from neonatal AMC

Chox may increase secretion generally in neonatal AMC or in response to a specific stimulus. In the first case, secretion could increase in response to any stimulus because of upregulation of the adenosine 2a receptor combined with enhanced autocrine effects of adenosine, and/or upregulation of proteins which regulate quantal size (Brown, 2009). On the other hand, Chox

Figure 3.3. Comparison of high K⁺-evoked secretory parameters in neonatal AMCs cultured in Nox versus Chox. A, there was no significant difference in quantal event frequency between Chox and Nox cells, exposed to the depolarizing stimulus high K⁺ (30 mM). By contrast, there was a significant increase in mean quantal charge (B), and Q^{1/3} (D), in AMCs cultured in Chox relative to Nox controls (p<0.01). C, there appeared to be a large (although statistically non-significant) increase in secretion rate in neonatal AMCs cultured in Chox controls. Data-were obtained from sister cultures of AMCs cultured in Nox (21% O₂, 24 hrs; n = 15) versus Chox (2% O₂, 24 hrs; n = 9), and compared using two-way Student's t-test (*p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001).



High K⁺-evoked Catecholamine Release









may change the expression of proteins which are intimately involved in the aglycemia-evoked response. To test whether the observed increase in secretion after Chox is general or stimulus-specific, I compared high K^+ -evoked secretory parameters between Nox and Chox cells.

There was no significant difference in the frequency of high K⁺-induced quantal events recorded from Nox and Chox cells (Fig 3.3A), however there was a significant increase in mean quantal charge after Chox (Fig 3.3B; p<0.01). Moreover, $Q^{1/3}$ was significantly higher in Chox compared to Nox cells during high K⁺ exposure (Fig. 3.3D; p<0.05). These data are consistent with evidence that proteins involved in packaging catecholamines into vesicles are upregulated in chromaffin cells during Chox (Brown, 2009). Although the mean high K⁺-evoked secretion rate (fC/min) was ~6 fold higher in Chox compared to Nox cells, the effect was not statistically significant, presumably reflecting the large variation in the magnitude of high K⁺-evoked secretion among different cells.

DISCUSSION

In this study Chox caused a marked potentiation of aglycemia-evoked catecholamine secretion from neonatal AMCs, mediated by an increase in both frequency and size of quantal events. Several mechanisms may mediate the increase in quantal size, such as greater packaging of catecholamines in vesicles or more complete vesicular emptying during release. Indeed, Chox was found to upregulate a number of genes involved in catecholamine metabolism, packaging and secretion, in a fetal-derived immortalized AMC line including the vesicular monoamine transporters (VMAT1 &2) which help concentrate catecholamines in dense cored vesicles (Brown, 2009). Moreover, after Chox there was an augmentation of the hypoxia-evoked elevation of Ca^{2+}_i in these immortalized AMCs (Brown and Reyes, personal communication),

which may activate different pools of vesicles or lead to more complete release. This increase in Ca^{2+} influx has been proposed to be mediated in part by increased expression of the adenosine 2a receptor combined with the paracrine effects of released adenosine. Activation of this paracrine pathway was recently shown to result in an increase in mean quantal charge in neonatal AMCs, though frequency remained unchanged (Brown & Reyes, unpublished observations). There also remains the possibility that upregulation of T-type VGCC following Chox could also increase secretion, as demonstrated for *adult* chromaffin cells (Carabelli *et al.*, 2007), however this remains to be tested in neonatal AMC.

Although the signal transduction pathway that mediates glucosensing in neonatal AMC is incompletely understood, it is conceivable that TRPC3 channels are involved. These nonselective cation channels have been proposed to underlie glucosensing in the related carotid body glomus cell (García-Fernández *et al.*, 2007b), and they are expressed in perinatal AMCs (Stephen Brown, personal communication). Moreover, TRPC3 channel expression is upregulated ~3 fold at the mRNA level during Chox (Stephen Brown, personal communication) and opening of these channels during aglycemia could promote a secondary source of Ca²⁺ entry. This could partly explain why aglycemia increases both the frequency and size of quantal events whereas the depolarizing stimulus high K⁺ only increases quantal size.

A great deal more work is required for a clearer interpretation of the data presented here. The proteins involved in glucosensing in neonatal AMCs need to be elucidated before changes in their expression pattern can be linked to secretory changes following exposure to chronic hypoxia.

APPENDIX I

Problems encountered during this study

Beginning in Nov/Dec 2009 the glucosensitivity of AMCs was lost and all neonatal AMCs responded like glucose-insensitive cells (Chapter 2). This loss of chemosensitivity was confirmed using Fura-2 Ca²⁺ imaging (Nikol Piskuric, personal communication), patch clamp (Min Zhang, personal communication), and carbon fibre amperometry. Furthermore, the responses to other chemostimuli like hypoxia were attenuated (Min Zhang, personal communication). Moreover, some juvenile AMCs which are considered weakly chemosensitive responded robustly to aglycemia (Fig I.1A upper). This response was characterized by an increase in the frequency (Fig I.1B), quantal charge (Fig I.1C), secretion rate (Fig I.1D), and Q^{1/3} (Fig I.1E). To test if this response might be the same as the aglycemia-evoked responses in neonates I tested the Ca²⁺-dependence of secretion. This response was not blocked when Ca²⁺ was removed from the saline solution (Fig I.2A upper). Indeed, the frequency and secretion rate was greater when Ca²⁺ was removed (Fig I.2B, D), indicating a store-operated mechanism. Moreover, in this laboratory the oxygen-sensing carotid body glomus cells and aortic body glomus cells are responding to reoxygenation (Nikol Piskuric, personal communication). These results are inconsistent with whole-animal studies and single-cell studies performed in this laboratory. As such, I considered them artifacts (perhaps resulting from unknown changes in the animals' hormonal balance, their rearing environment, or laboratory environment) and therefore, attempted to change components of the AMC preparation in order to restore chemosensing.

Since the temperature control of the Animal Care Facility fluctuates widely, we tried keeping our rats in the Animal Care Facility in the Health Sciences Centre. In addition, we

ordered pregnant rats from Harlan and kept them in the Health Sciences Center's Animal Care Facility. New glassware and reagents were purchased for cell culture preparation and saline preparation. Cells were cultured in MAH medium and modified DMEM medium (See Appendix IV). Moreover, our flow hoods were professionally decontaminated. Numerous problems with the incubators had occurred; the CO_2 sensor broke and had to be replaced. Then, the fan broke caused CO_2 levels in the incubator to vary widely; this was subsequently fixed. A new incubator was purchased and its fan broke and had to be fixed.

Before these problems arose, we had recently received an immortalized cell line of pancreatic β -cells from a collaborator, which we thought might have contaminated our cultures with mycoplasma. DAPI-staining and mycoplasma detection kit (MycoAlert Kit, Lonza) were negative for mycoplasma. RT-PCR was negative when performed according to the method of Hopert *et al.*, (1993); however it was positive when performed according to the method suggested by Dr. David W. Andrews (Shaima Salman, personal communication).

The H₂O in the Life Sciences Building contains dangerously high concentrations of lead (Pb^{2+}) , and I could not be certain if the reverse-osmosis machine on the 4th floor worked or not. Therefore, the reverse-osmosis machine on the 5th floor was-used for most experiments. In addition, H₂O was obtained from several other sources (Dr. Chris Wood's Lab and the Health Science Centre). Moreover, I purchased cell culture grade water to make saline.

Because changing the above mentioned materials had no effect on glucosensitivity a 3 day lab cleanup was performed. Anything which could not be autoclaved or soaked in EtOH or Roccal was thrown out. For the two week period following the cleanup, glucosensitivity was restored; however, these responses were only transient and could not be measured after 3 weeks.

During the Christmas break the lab was shut down and a brief cleanup was performed before the lab was left empty for 7-10 days. Responses were not observed after this time.

Figure I.1. Aglycemia-evoked secretory responses from juvenile AMCs. A, *upper*: representative trace of a juvenile AMC with a robust secretory response to aglycemia, *lower*: cumulative charge corresponding to the cell above. B, juvenile AMCs underwent an increase in event frequency when exposed to aglycemia. This corresponded with an increase in quantal charge (C) and catecholamine secretion rate (D) during aglycemia. E, there was no statistically significant difference in $Q^{1/3}$ in response to aglycemia. Data represent mean + S.E.M. n = 8 cells, data compared using Student's t-test.



Figure I.2. The aglycemia-evoked secretory response in juvenile AMCs does not require extracellular Ca²⁺. A, *upper*: trace of a juvenile AMC with aglycemia-evoked secretion in the absence of extracellular Ca²⁺, *lower*: cumulative charge for the cell above. B, a large increase in frequency in response to aglycemia even in the absence of Ca²⁺. C, quantal charge was not different when Ca²⁺ was omitted during aglycemia. D, there was robust catecholamine secretion in response to aglycemia when Ca²⁺ was omitted. E, no statistically significant differences in $Q^{1/3}$ was measured. Data represent mean + S.E.M. n = 6 cells, data compared using 1-way ANOVA.

Master's Thesis – Simon Livermore – McMaster - Biology



APPENDIX II

Adrenal slice preparation

SUMMARY

A preparation of fresh (1-8 hours), viable thin slices (~200 μ m thick) of the neonatal rat adrenal gland was developed to facilitate future studies of stimulus-evoked catecholamine secretion, without the confounding variables or potential artifacts associated with dissociated cell culture (see Chapters 2 and 3). Whereas juvenile (~2 week-old) adrenal glands proved easy to section, producing healthy slices with robust high K⁺-evoked secretion, the small size of neonatal adrenals made this procedure more difficult. A different technique was developed for neonatal adrenal glands and it was possible to measure high K⁺-evoked and aglycemia-evoked catecholamine secretion from single cells in some cases.

INTRODUCTION

The use of brain slices began in the 1970s for studies of neurophysiological processes and has become widespread thanks to advances in video microscopy and patch pipettes (Reid *et al.*, 1988). Barbara *et al* (1998) established a thin slice (200-300 μ m) preparation to study the cholinergic innervation of adrenomedullary chromaffin cells (AMCs) which was later adapted for studying hypoxia- and hypercapnia-evoked secretory responses in neonatal adrenal slices (Munoz-Cabello *et al.*, 2005; García-Fernández *et al.*, 2007a). Moreover, a similar method has been used to study chemosensory responses in the related carotid body (Pardal & Lopez-Barneo, 2002; García-Fernández *et al.*, 2007b). Adrenal slices offer several advantages over cultured, dissociated AMCs. First, the integrity of the tissue is relatively intact, including gap junctions

and clusters of AMCs. This plays a critical role given the host of paracrine transmitters released by chromaffin cells. Second, they can be used acutely (within an hour of dissection) which limits phenotypic changes which are known to occur in cultured cells. Third, the yield is generally better from slices, resulting in the need for fewer animals to perform the experiments. The principal drawback is that technically it's far more difficult to measure catecholamine secretion from AMCs in slices. There is a great deal of connective tissue as well as damaged tissue along the cutting surface resulting in poor visibility. Moreover, it requires the use of an upright microscope with long water immersion objectives which makes difficult the positioning of the electrodes at the surface of identifiable cells within the slice.

Although not much is known about the drawbacks of adrenal slices, several problems have been identified in brain slices. For instance, metabolic changes occur in brain slices, resulting in lower ATP and phosphocreatine concentrations, less total adenylate, three times more lactate, and higher intracellular pH (Whittingham *et al.*, 1984). Moreover, the brain becomes ischemic during the period between removal from the animal and the completion of the slicing procedure. Reducing PO₂, decreasing glucose levels, or prolonging this period blunts evoked potentials (Whittingham *et al.*, 1984; Schurr *et al.*, 1989). Even after slicing this problem persists because O₂ must diffuse into the slice and, as a result, PO₂ falls abruptly with slice depth. For example, in 400-600 μ m thick slices kept in air-equilibrated saline (PO₂ = 150 mmHg) the PO₂ falls to 30 mmHg at about 25 μ m below the slice surface and to 1 mmHg at a depth of 150 μ m (Bingmann & Kolde, 1982). Moreover, this effect is more pronounced at higher temperatures and in thicker slices. Lastly, brain slices are not immune from phenotypic changes. The selective loss of AMPA receptor subunits, induction of several transcription factors, and changed mRNA expression have been reported in brain slices (Taubenfeld *et al.*, 2002).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Preparation

The first step was the preparation of the following solutions: (i) Tyrode's solution (in mM): 148 NaCl; 2 KCl; 3 MgCl₂; 10 HEPES; 10 glucose; pH 7.4); (ii) bicarbonate-buffered saline (BBS) (in mM): 24 NaHCO₃; 115 NaCl; 10 glucose; 12 sucrose; 5 KCl; 2 CaCl₂; 1 MgCl₂); and (iii) phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) (in mM): 137 NaCl; 2.7 KCl; 8.1 Na₂HPO₄·2H₂O; 1.76 KH₂PO₄; pH 7.2). Fresh 20 mL solution of 3% agarose (Bioshop, AGA001.500) in PBS was prepared prior to each experiment and brought to a boil. This hot agarose solution was drawn into several 3 mL syringes and then a 16 gauge needle was attached. Syringes were placed in a 46°C water bath and allowed to cool. Tyrode's solution was placed on ice and bubbled with 100% O₂.

Animals

Animal care and handling was performed as described in Chapter 2, however, to limit ischemia after adrenal gland removal a single animal was sacrificed at a time and adrenal slices were taken before proceeding to the next animal.

Juvenile Slice Procedure

Juvenile adrenal gland slicing was done as previously described (Barbara *et al.*, 1998). Adrenal glands were removed and immediately placed in oxygenated Tyrode's solution prior to sectioning. Adrenal glands were glued to the vibratome (Leica Microsystems, Wetzlar Germany) dish with cyanoacrylate, placed in the vibratome tray, and finally covered in oxygenated Tyrode's solution. The razor blade was mounted parallel to the vibratome dish and

200 μ m sections were cut at high frequency (setting 10) and low speed (setting ~0.5) settings. The slices were removed from the tray and placed in the wells of a 24-well Falcon plate (Beckinson Dickinson) containing BBS. This plate was kept in a humidified incubator with a 95% air/5% CO₂ atmosphere at 37°C for up to 8 hours.

Neonatal Slice Procedure

Neonatal adrenal glands became embedded in even a single drop of cyanoacrylate; therefore a different method had to be used to obtain slices. Adrenals were removed and placed in oxygenated Tyrode's solution on ice. Using a syringe approximately 0.5 mL of agarose (at 46°) was placed on the vibratome dish. A single adrenal gland was placed into this agarose solution and swirled around. This was done quickly to ensure the gland was included in the agarose block. Once the block hardened (15-30 seconds) extraneous agarose was cut away and the slicing was done as described for the juveniles.

Troubleshooting and alternative procedures

Slices prepared in gelatin (25%, Sigma) were not healthy based on their weak high K⁺ responses. Slices included in low melt agarose (4%, Sigma) were difficult to cut and easily came out the block. Neonatal adrenal glands could be glued directly to the Teflon dish with cyanoacrylate; however they became enveloped in the glue. This made slicing more difficult but I did not observe a difference in high K⁺-evoked responses. Cutting the slices at faster speeds or lower frequencies pushed the adrenal gland out of the agarose block rather than cutting it. If the razor blade is not parallel to the tray the adrenal gland may be pulled out of the agarose block when the razor blade retracts. Slices could be kept healthy in a hyperoxic (95% $O_2/5\%$ CO_2)

atmosphere after cutting; however I could not measure detectable aglycemia-evoked responses from these slices. Hyperoxia can lead to reactive oxygen species (ROS) production which could damage the cells (Chandel & Budinger, 2007). It is often used in brain slices because there is a steep PO_2 gradient, however given that I am recording from AMCs at the surface of the slice this probably is not required.

Imaging Slices

A 22 x 40 mm glass slide was attached to the bottom of the perfusion chamber (RC-22; Warner Instruments) with a thin layer of vacuum grease (Dow Corning). This was then attached to a slice platform (P-1; Warner Instruments) with vacuum grease and then held in place with side clamps. Slices were placed in the slice chamber and pinned to the slide with a slice anchor (SHD-22L/15; Warner Instruments) made of a stainless steel harp with Lycra cross threads. The slice platform was placed on the stage of an Axioskop upright microscope (Zeiss) equipped with long distance water immersion objectives. Slices were viewed with differential interference contrast microscopy and imaged with infrared video microscopy (XC-73, Sony) on a closed-circuit television (CPT-CM 15, Capture, Korea). Pictures of the slices were taken by removing the infrared camera and replacing it with a QICAM Fast camera (QIMAGING) attached via a fire-wire cable to a computer. Slices were visualized using QCapture software (QIMAGING) by opening the "Live Preview" option. Settings could be manipulated (e.g. contrast, exposure.) and a picture taken by pressing "Snap". Unfortunately, with the infrared camera removed resolution of the adrenal slices was poor.

Amperometry

Amperometry was performed as previously described (Chapter 2), however, there were slight modifications required for slice work. The carbon fibre electrode was placed in the medulla of the slice in close proximity to a cluster of cells. The slice was perfused with a high K^+ solution and healthy slices responded with a large upward shift in the baseline indicating a rise in bath catecholamines. This was repeated until quantal catecholamine release was measured from AMCs and then the slice was perfused with aglycemia to test for chemosensitivity.

RESULTS

The adrenal medulla region was clearly identifiable in juvenile and neonatal slices as a transparent region in the centre of the adrenal gland (Fig II.1A, C). At higher magnification, some clusters of AMCs could be identified in juvenile slices (arrows) (Fig II.1B). However, in neonatal slices individual cells or clusters were more difficult to observe (Fig II.1D). In amperometric recordings a slow upward shift in the baseline during high K⁺ exposure corresponded to an increase in bath catecholamines and was used to determine whether or not slices were healthy (Fig II.2A-E). When the carbon fiber microelectrode was close to juvenile AMCs quantal catecholamine secretion could be measured (Fig II.2A, B). This phenomenon was also observed in neonatal AMCs (Fig II.2C-D). Some neonatal AMCs in slices were not sensitive to aglycemia (Fig II.2C-D). Occasionally, a rise in baseline was observed in response to aglycemia (Fig II.2D), and in some cells quantal catecholamine secretion was measured in response to aglycemia (Fig II.2E).

This secretory response was characterized by an increase in the frequency of quantal events (Fig II.3A, p<0.05, n = 3). There was no significant change in mean quantal charge or $Q^{1/3}$ in slices, in contrast to the effects in cultured AMCs (Chapter 2) (Fig II.3B, D). Overall, there was an increase in secretion rate in response to aglycemia in neonatal adrenal slices (Fig II.3C, p<0.05, n = 3) and the magnitude of the responses was similar to that observed in cultured cells.

Figure II.1. Images of juvenile and neonatal rat adrenal slices. A, low magnification image of adrenal gland showing the translucent adrenal medulla, bounded by the darker adrenal cortex; a Lycra cross thread can be identified pinning the slice to the slide. B, higher magnification image of juvenile adrenal medulla showing a couple clusters of AMCs (arrows). C, image of neonatal adrenal gland with clear medulla and cortex. D, high magnification image of neonatal adrenal showing poor visibility of AMCs. These images were taken with DIC microscopy without infrared microscopy.

Juveniles





Neonates





Figure II.2. Traces of responses observed from juvenile and neonatal AMCs in slices. A, B, the large upward shift in the baseline during high K⁺ exposure indicates an increase in bath catecholamines which occurs in parallel with quantal catecholamine release in juvenile slices. C, a recording from a neonatal adrenal slice with high K⁺-evoked secretion but no aglycemiaevoked secretion. D, a trace showing a rise in bath catecholamines during aglycemia, but no quantal release in AMCs from a neonatal slice. E, exemplar trace from a neonatal adrenal slice showing quantal release in response to aglycemia.



Figure II.3. Characterization of secretory responses to aglycemia in a few neonatal adrenal slices. A, in a few cells there was an increase in the frequency of quantal events in response to aglycemia. B, there was no significant change in quantal charge during aglycemia. C, aglycemia produced a large increase in secretion rate. D, there was no significant change in $Q^{1/3}$ during aglycemia. Data represent mean ± S.E.M. (n =3 AMCs), and were compared using a one tailed Student's t-test.





APPENDIX III

Attempts to measure ATP release from neonatal adrenomedullary chromaffin cells

SUMMARY

I attempted to measure stimulus-evoked ATP secretion from neonatal AMCs, juvenile adrenal slices, and whole neonatal adrenal glands. Using a protocol which has been used previously in this lab, I was unable to measure stimulus-evoked ATP secretion. I developed a novel method of measuring ATP, however, there was no convincing demonstration that ATP release occurred in these preparations.

INTRODUCTION

Neonatal AMCs respond to hypoglycemia via voltage-gated Ca²⁺ entry and the fusion of catecholamine vesicles with the plasma membrane (Chapter 2). These catecholamines are costored along with ATP in dense core vesicles in a 4:1 ratio (Winkler & Westhead, 1980). ATP can act as an autocrine/paracrine modulator via cell membrane receptors before being broken down by ecto-ATPases into ADP. ATP, along with other purine di- and trinucleotides, activates ionotropic P2X receptors and metabotropic P2Y receptors. ATP-release from chromaffin cells has been previously measured and is known to modulate many intracellular signalling pathways in AMCs (Rojas *et al.*, 1985; Kasai *et al.*, 1999). In this lab, a technique has been developed to measure ATP release from whole carotid bodies, carotid body thin slices, and dispersed carotid body glomus cells (Buttigieg & Nurse, 2004; Zhang *et al.*, 2007). Moreover, it has also been used to measure ATP release from AMCs (Buttigieg *et al.*, 2006; Thompson *et al.*, 2007). This technique utilizes the bioluminescence reaction catalyzed by the firefly enzyme luciferase to measure ATP release via the following reaction: luciferin + ATP \rightarrow luciferyl adenylate + PP_i

luciferyl adenylate + $O_2 \rightarrow oxyluciferin + AMP + light$

The firefly enzyme luciferase catalyzes the reaction of ATP and luciferin to form luciferyl adenylate and inorganic phosphate. The oxidation of luciferyl adenylate produces oxyluciferin, AMP, and a photon of light. A photomultiplier tube captures these photons and converts them into a digital signal. This signal is read by a luminometer and is expressed as relative light units (RLU). When ATP is the limiting reagent, this reaction can be used to measure its concentration. Using this technique, I attempted to measure stimulus-evoked ATP release from neonatal AMCs in culture, in fresh tissue slices, and whole adrenal glands.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animal Procedures

Animal handling was done as explained in Chapter 2.

Cell Culture Method

Preparation of neonatal AMC cell-culture was done as described in Chapter 2, with slight modifications. Instead of culturing cells in a dish they were cultured in a modified luminometer plate. The modified plate was constructed by painting glass rings white and attaching them to the lid of a 24-well luminometer plate (Falcon 35047) with sylgard (Paisley Products, Mississauga). These dishes were allowed to dry then they were placed under UV light for 2 hours. AMCs were cultured on the bottom of these cells on top of a layer of matrigel (Becton Dickenson). The cells were then placed in a humidified atmosphere of 95% air/5% CO_2 for 24 hours before experiments were performed.

<u>.</u>

Adrenal Slices

Adrenal slices were prepared as described in Appendix II.

ATP Assay

Two protocols were used to measure stimulus-evoked ATP release. Protocol 1 was previously used in the lab to measure ATP secretion from dispersed carotid body glomus cells and AMCs (Buttigieg & Nurse, 2004; Buttigieg *et al.*, 2006). Because I had difficulty measuring stimulus-evoked ATP release using this method (results below), I experimented with a new method, Protocol 2, in an attempt to address some of the drawbacks of Protocol 1.

Protocol 1: Experiments were performed on neonatal AMCs cultured overnight in a modified luminometer dish, freshly dissected whole adrenal glands, and fresh tissue slices. Cells were plated into a luminometer well with 800 μ L HEPES-buffered saline solution. A 10 mL stock solution of luciferin-luciferase solution (ATP determination kit; Molecular Probes #A22066) was made and kept in the dark on ice. This solution contained:

- 8.9 mL dH20
- 0.5 mL 20x Reaction Buffer (contains 500 mM Tricine buffer, pH 7.8, 100 mM MgSO₄, 2 mM EDTA, 2 mM NaN₃)
- 0.5 mL of 10 mM D-luciferin
- 2.5 µL luciferase

 $200 \ \mu L$ of this stock solution was added to a well containing the AMCs at room temperature and then the luminometer dish was placed into a Labsystem Luminoskan Luminometer. The emitted

photons were read as RLU and collected and stored using Labsystems Ascent Software. RLU were converted to concentration of ATP ([ATP]) using a standard curve.

Protocol 2: Because ATP release could not be measured in response to stimuli that evoked catecholamine release, several different potential problems were identified with Protocol 1, and a new protocol was designed to avoid these problems.

- Adding the cold stock solution (kept on ice) to the cells during the experiment may produce cell stress and lead to cell death.
- 2) The maximum enzymatic reaction for luciferase occurs at pH = 7.8. At the pH of the previous protocol (7.4) activity would be reduced. Alternatively, adding the stock solution at pH 7.8 could stress the cells and may contribute to cell death.
- The luciferin-luciferase stock solution contains NaN₃, which inhibits cytochrome oxidase (Stannard & Horecker, 1948) and is known to cause cell death (Nicoletti *et al.*, 1991).
- The reaction mixture contains 100 μM EDTA which is often used to resuspend cells and could lead to cell lysis.
- 5) The protocol suggested by Invitrogen recommends no more than 10% sample size and 90% reaction mixture, as opposed to the 80% sample size and 20% reaction mixture previously used. There are a number of reasons for ensuring a small sample size to reaction mixture ratio:
 - a. Ensure that ATP is the limiting reagent in the reaction so that this is what is being measured.

b. Mg^{2+} is a cofactor for luciferase, and is suggested to be at a final concentration of 5 mM, instead of the value closer to 2 mM in the previous protocol.

In order to avoid these potential complications, a new protocol was established. Two adrenal tissue slices or a single adrenal gland was placed in a 100 μ L eppendorf tube containing HEPESbuffered saline at room temperature. The tissue was incubated in the tube for 15 minutes and then a 10 μ L sample was removed and placed in a well of a 96 well luminometer plate (Falcon #353219). 90 μ L of stock luciferin-luciferase reaction mixture was added to the sample and the plate was placed in the luminometer and RLU was recorded for 5 minutes. The control solution was replaced with a high K⁺ (30 mM KCl) solution and left for 15 minutes before a 10 μ L sample was taken and RLU was measured as before. This protocol has three principal advantages, i.e. cells are not exposed to EDTA, rapid changes in temperature, nor NaN₃. Critically, it also ensures maximal luciferase activity, correct pH, right buffer conditions and high Mg²⁺ concentrations. The principal drawback is that ATP release is not measured in real time.

Solutions:

The solutions used in the experiments presented are identical to those used in Chapter 2.

RESULTS

Using Protocol 1, ATP release was measured from dispersed AMCs. It was found that exposure of cells to hypoxia increased ATP release; however the cells did not recover after this stimulus (Fig III.1A). Similarly, in response to aglycemia, there was a rise in ATP; however no

recovery was observed (Fig III.1B). Critically, significantly fewer cells were found on the plate during each successive stimulus. I hypothesized that ATP release could be occurring as a result of cell death during successive solution changes rather than secretion. Therefore, I made successive changes of control saline with identical control saline and monitored ATP release. As shown Figure III.1C successive saline changes increased the concentration of ATP in a manner similar to hypoxia. Because changing the solution may cause cells to detach from the bottom of the plate, I used thin slices of adrenal glands and whole adrenal glands and measured ATP release. Thin slices of juvenile adrenal glands were prepared and exposed to 15 minutes of normoxia followed by 15 minutes of high K^+ (Fig III.1D). Although a large concentration of ATP was measured, there was no difference between control solution and high K^+ stimulation. Similarly, whole neonatal adrenal glands were exposed to 15 minutes of control solution followed by 15 minutes of high K^+ and no difference was observed in the concentration of ATP measured (Fig III.1E).

I therefore identified problems with the previous protocol and established Protocol 2. Comparison of the standard curves obtained using both protocols shows that they are both sensitive to ATP, with protocol 2 being slight more sensitive (Fig III.2A). Juvenile adrenal slices showed no change in ATP in response to aglycemia or high K⁺, when incubated for 15 minutes in each (Fig III.2B) and neither did whole adrenal glands (Fig III.2C). It is possible that ATP levels had not increased because ATP was being broken down by ecto-ATPases. The ecto-ATPase inhibitor FPL 67156 (100 μ M) was incubated with cells in high K⁺ for 15 minutes and no change in ATP was observed (Fig III.2D). Note that the concentrations of ATP shown for these experiments (~2 nM) are below the resolving power of the luminometer and therefore should be considered ~0 nM.

Figure III.1. ATP release from cultured neonatal AMCs, juvenile slices, and whole neonatal adrenal glands. A, hypoxia increased ATP release, however there was no recovery after washout; high K⁺ (30 mM KCl) had a weak effect on ATP (n = 5 wells). B, aglycemia increased ATP levels in the extracellular solution (n = 6 wells). C, successive washing of the cells with control solution increased ATP in a manner similar to hypoxia (n = 4 wells). D, juvenile thin slices glands cultured in control or high K⁺ solutions for 15 minutes showed no differences in concentrations of ATP (n = 6 wells). E, there was no significant difference in high K⁺ and control (basal) ATP release in whole neonatal adrenal glands (n = 8 wells).


Figure III.2. Changes in ATP measured by Protocol 2. A, comparison of assay sensitivity using Protocols 1 and 2. B, juvenile adrenal slices showed no measurable change in ATP in response to any stimulus (n = 6 wells). C, whole neonatal adrenal glands showed no change in ATP levels in response to aglycemia or high K^+ (n = 3 wells). D, the ecto-ATPase inhibitor FPL 67156 had no effect on ATP concentration in high K^+ in juvenile adrenal slices (n = 4 wells).



APPENDIX IV

Composition of Solutions

L-15 Plating Medium

0.5 mL penstrep + 0.5 mL glutamine

0.5 mL 30% glucose

Make up to 50 mL with L-15 Stock

Enzyme

5 mL of 10x Hanks BSS (minus Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺, NaHCO₃)

45 mL of cell culture water

59.6 mg HEPES

50 mg Collagenase

50 mg Trypsin

5 mg DNAse I

Mix-until dissolved. Adjusted to pH 7.2 with 1 N NaOH

Sterilized by passage through a 0.2 µm filter

Add 0.5 mL Pen-strep

Frozen into 1.5 mL aliquots before being added to adrenal medullae.

AMC F-12 Medium

0.5 mL Pen-strep

0.5 mL 30% glucose

Master's Thesis - Simon Livermore - McMaster - Biology

- 0.5 mL glutamine
- 0.2 mL insulin
- 5 mL Fetal Bovine Serum
- 0.5 mL Dexamethasone
- 43.5 mL F-12 Medium

MAH Medium

- 0.5 mL Fresh vitamin mix
- 2 mL of 1:1:2 (Glucose:Glutamine:Pen-strep)
- 5 mL Fetal Bovine Serum
- 0.5 mL Dexamethasone

42 mL L-15/CO₂

AMC DMEM Medium

- 0.5 mL Pen-strep
- 0.2 mL-insulin
- 5 mL Fetal Bovine Serum
- 0.5 mL Dexamethasone
- 0.5 mL glutamine
- 43.3 mL DMEM

_

References

- Amatore C, Arbault S, Guille M & Lemaître F. (2008). Electrochemical Monitoring of Single Cell Secretion: Vesicular Exocytosis and Oxidative Stress. *Chemical Reviews* 108, 2585-2621.
- Anderson DJ. (1993). Molecular Control of Cell Fate in the Neural Crest: The Sympathoadrenal Lineage. *Annual Review of Neuroscience* **16**, 129-158.
- Artal R. (1980). Fetal adrenal medulla. Clinical Obstretrics and Gynecology 23, 825-836.
- Balfour RH & Trapp S. (2007). Ionic currents underlying the response of rat dorsal vagal neurones to hypoglycaemia and chemical anoxia. *The Journal of Physiology* **579**, 691-702.
- Barbara J-G, Christophe Poncer J, Anne McKinney R & Takeda K. (1998). An adrenal slice preparation for the study of chromaffin cells and their cholinergic innervation. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods* **80**, 181-189.
- Bassett JM & Hanson C. (2000). Prevention of hypoinsulinemia modifies catecholamine effects in fetal sheep. *American Journal of Physiology - Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology* **278**, R1171-R1181.
- Benavides A, Calvo S, Tornero D, González-GarcÍa C & Ceña V. (2004). Adrenal medulla calcium channel population is not conserved in bovine chromaffin cells in culture. *Neuroscience* **128**, 99-109.
- Berridge MJ. (2010). Calcium microdomains: Organization and function. *Cell Calcium* **40**, 405-412.
- Bingmann D & Kolde G. (1982). PO2-profiles in hippocampal slices of the guinea pig. Experimental Brain Research 48, 89-96.
- Bjorklund A, Adamson U, Almstrom N, Enocksson E, Gennser G, Lins P & Westgren L. (1996).
 Effects of hypoglycemia on fetal heart rate variability and umbilical artery Doppler velocity waveforms in pregnant women with insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol* 103, 413-420.
- Bloom SR & Johnston DI. (1972). Failure of Glucagon Release in Infants of Diabetic Mothers. British Medical Journal 4, 453-454.
- Borges R, Travis ER, Hochstetler SE & Wightman RM. (1997). Effects of External Osmotic Pressure on Vesicular Secretion from Bovine Adrenal Medullary Cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **272**, 8325-8331.

- Bournaud R, Hidalgo J, Yu H, Girard E & Shimahara T. (2007). Catecholamine secretion from rat foetal adrenal chromaffin cells and hypoxia sensitivity. *Pflügers Archiv European Journal of Physiology* **454**, 83-92.
- Brown S. (2009). The hypoxic regulation and function of hypoxia-inducible factor 2a (HIF-2a) in an adrenomedullary chromaffin cell line. In *Biology*. McMaster University, Hamilton.
- Brown ST, Kelly KF, Daniel JM & Nurse CA. (2009). Hypoxia inducible factor (HIF)-2α is required for the development of the catecholaminergic phenotype of sympathoadrenal cells. *Journal of Neurochemistry* **110**, 622-630.
- Burcelin R, Dolci W & Thorens B. (2000). Glucose sensing by the hepatoportal sensor is GLUT2-dependent: in vivo analysis in GLUT2-null mice. *Diabetes* **49**, 1643-1648.
- Burdakov D, Jensen LT, Alexopoulos H, Williams RH, Fearon IM, O'Kelly I, Gerasimenko O, Fugger L & Verkhratsky A. (2006). Tandem-Pore K+ Channels Mediate Inhibition of Orexin Neurons by Glucose. *Neuron* 50, 711-722.
- Burrage DM, Braddick L, Cleal JK, Costello P, Noakes DE, Hanson MA & Green LR. (2009). The late gestation fetal cardiovascular response to hypoglycaemia is modified by prior peri-implantation undernutrition in sheep. *The Journal of Physiology* **587**, 611-624.
- Buttigieg J, Brown S, Holloway AC & Nurse CA. (2009). Chronic Nicotine Blunts Hypoxic Sensitivity in Perinatal Rat Adrenal Chromaffin Cells via Upregulation of KATP Channels: Role of {alpha}7 Nicotinic Acetylcholine Receptor and Hypoxia-Inducible Factor-2{alpha}. J Neurosci 29, 7137-7147.
- Buttigieg J, Brown S, Zhang M, Lowe M, Holloway AC & Nurse CA. (2008). Chronic nicotine in utero selectively suppresses hypoxic sensitivity in neonatal rat adrenal chromaffin cells. *FASEB J* 22, 1317-1326.
- Buttigieg J & Nurse CA. (2004). Detection of hypoxia-evoked ATP release from chemoreceptor cells of the rat carotid body. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 322, 82-87.
- Buttigieg J, Zhang M, Thompson R & Nurse C. (2006). Potential Role of Mitochondria in Hypoxia Sensing by Adrenomedullary Chromaffin Cells. In *THE ARTERIAL CHEMORECEPTORS*, pp. 79-85. Springer US.
- Calabresi P, Ascone CM, Centonze D, Pisani A, Sancesario G, D'Angelo V & Bernardi G. (1997). Opposite Membrane Potential Changes Induced by Glucose Deprivation in Striatal Spiny Neurons and in Large Aspiny Interneurons. *J Neurosci* **17**, 1940-1949.
- Carabelli V, Marcantoni A, Comunanza V, de Luca A, DÍaz J, Borges R & Carbone E. (2007). Chronic hypoxia up-regulates α1H T-type channels and low-threshold catecholamine secretion in rat chromaffin cells. *The Journal of Physiology* **584**, 149-165.

- Chandel NS & Budinger GRS. (2007). The cellular basis for diverse responses to oxygen. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* **42**, 165-174.
- Chen M & Simard JM. (2001). Cell Swelling and a Nonselective Cation Channel Regulated by Internal Ca2+ and ATP in Native Reactive Astrocytes from Adult Rat Brain. *J Neurosci* **21**, 6512-6521.
- Chen X-K, Wang L-C, Zhou Y, Cai Q, Prakriya M, Duan K-L, Sheng Z-H, Lingle C & Zhou Z. (2005). Activation of GPCRs modulates quantal size in chromaffin cells through G[beta][gamma] and PKC. *Nat Neurosci* **8**, 1160-1168.
- Colliver TL, Hess EJ, Pothos EN, Sulzer D & Ewing AG. (2000). Quantitative and Statistical Analysis of the Shape of Amperometric Spikes Recorded from Two Populations of Cells. *Journal of Neurochemistry* **74**, 1086-1097.
- Confino E, Ismajovich B, David M & Gleicher N. (1985). Fetal heart rate in maternal hypoglycemic coma. *Int J Gynaecol Obstete* **23**, 59-60.
- Crivellato E, Nico B & Ribatti D. (2008). The Chromaffin Vesicle: Advances in Understanding the Composition of a Versatile, Multifunctional Secretory Organelle. *The Anatomical Record: Advances in Integrative Anatomy and Evolutionary Biology* **291**, 1587-1602.
- Cuezva JM, Burkett ES, Kerr DS, Rodman HM & Patel MS. (1982). The Newborn of Diabetic Rat. I. Hormonal and Metabolic Changes in the Postnatal Period. *Pediatric Research* 16, 632-637.
- Czikk MJ, Green LR, Kawagoe Y, McDonald TJ, Hill DJ & Richardson BS. (2001). Intermittent Umbilical Cord Occlusion in the Ovine Fetus: Effects on Blood Glucose, Insulin, and Glucagon and on Pancreatic Development. *Journal of the Society for Gynecologic Investigation* 8, 191-197.
- Dasso LLT, Buckler KJ & Vaughan-Jones RD. (2000). Interactions between hypoxia and hypercapnic acidosis on calcium signaling in carotid body type I cells. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* **279**, L36-42.
- de Araujo E, de Souza K, Garcia R & de Freitas Mathias P. (1999). Glucose does not affect catecholamine stimulus-secretion coupling in rat adrenal medulla: relationship to low changes in osmolarity and to insulin. *Res Commun Mol Pathol Pharmacol* **105**, 200-212.
- DePuy AM, Coassolo KM, Som DA & Smulian JC. (2009). Neonatal hypoglycemia in term, nondiabetic pregnancies. *American Journal of Obstretrics and Gynecology* **200**, e45-51.
- Duncan RR, Greaves J, Wiegand UK, Matskevich I, Bodammer G, Apps DK, Shipston MJ & Chow RH. (2003). Functional and spatial segregation of secretory vesicle pools according to vesicle age. *Nature* **422**, 176-180.

- Dunn-Meynell AA, Routh VH, Kang L, Gaspers L & Levin BE. (2002). Glucokinase Is the Likely Mediator of Glucosensing in Both Glucose-Excited and Glucose-Inhibited Central Neurons. *Diabetes* 51, 2056-2065.
- Edwards JC, Asplund K & Lundqvist G. (1972). GLUCAGON RELEASE FROM THE PANCREAS OF THE NEWBORN RAT. J Endocrinol 54, 493-504.
- Eisler G, Hjertberg R & Lagercrantz H. (1999). Randomised controlled trial of effect of terbutaline before elective caesarean section on postnatal respiration and glucose homeostasis. Archives of Disease in Childhood - Fetal and Neonatal Edition 80, F88-F92.
- Fernandez-Espejo E, Armengol JA, Flores JA, Galan-Rodriguez B & Ramiro S. (2005). Cells of the sympathoadrenal lineage: Biological properties as donor tissue for cell-replacement therapies for Parkinson's disease. *Brain Research Reviews* **49**, 343-354.
- Finnegan JM, Pihel K, Cahill PS, Huang L, Zerby SE, Ewing AG, Kennedy RT & Wightman RM. (1996). Vesicular Quantal Size Measured by Amperometry at Chromaffin, Mast, Pheochromocytoma, and Pancreatic β-Cells. *Journal of Neurochemistry* 66, 1914-1923.
- Fioramonti X, Contié S, Song Z, Routh VH, Lorsignol A & Pénicaud L. (2007). Characterization of Glucosensing Neuron Subpopulations in the Arcuate Nucleus. *Diabetes* **56**, 1219-1227.
- Fowden AL. (1980). EFFECTS OF ADRENALINE AND AMINO ACIDS ON THE RELEASE OF INSULIN IN THE SHEEP FETUS. J Endocrinol 87, 113-121.
- Fujiwara N, Warashina A & Shimoji K. (1994). Characterization of Low pH-induced Catecholamine Secretion in the Rat Adrenal Medulla. *Journal of Neurochemistry* 62, 1809-1815.
- García-Fernández M, Mejías R & López-Barneo J. (2007a). Developmental changes of chromaffin cell secretory response to hypoxia studied in thin adrenal slices. *Pflügers Archiv European Journal of Physiology* **454**, 93-100.
- García-Fernández M, Ortega-Saenz P, Castellano A & Lopez-Barneo J. (2007b). Mechanisms of Low-Glucose Sensitivity in Carotid Body Glomus Cells. *Diabetes* **56**, 2893-2900.
- García AG, García-De-Diego AM, Gandía L, Borges R & García-Sancho J. (2006). Calcium Signaling and Exocytosis in Adrenal Chromaffin Cells. *Physiological Reviews* **86**, 1093-1131.
- Giaccia AJ, Simon MC & Johnson R. (2004). The biology of hypoxia: the role of oxygen sensing in development, normal function, and disease. *Genes & Development* 18, 2183-2194.

- Girard J, Bal D & Assan R. (1972). Glucagon Secretion During the Early Postnatal Period in the Rat. *Horm Metab Res* **4**, 168,170.
- Girard J, Caquet D, Bal D & Guillet I. (1973a). Control of rat liver phosphorylase, glucose-6phosphatase and phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase activities by insulin and glucagon during the perinatal period. *Enzyme* **15**, 272-285.
- Girard J, Ferre P, Pegorier JP & Duee PH. (1992). Adaptations of glucose and fatty acid metabolism during perinatal period and suckling-weaning transition. *Physiological Reviews* **72**, 507-562.
- Girard JR, Cuendet GS, Marliss EB, Kervran A, Rieutort M & Assan R. (1973b). Fuels, Hormones, and Liver Metabolism at Term and during the Early Postnatal Period in the Rat. J Clin Invest 52, 3190-3200.
- Gonzalez JA, Reimann F & Burdakov D. (2009). Dissociation between sensing and metabolism of glucose in sugar sensing neurones. *The Journal of Physiology* **587**, 41-48.
- Gonzlez JA, Jensen LT, Fugger L & Burdakov D. (2008). Metabolism-Independent Sugar Sensing in Central Orexin Neurons. *Diabetes* **57**, 2569-2576.
- Grabauskas G, Song I, Zhou SY & Owyang C. (2009). Electrophysiological identifications of glucose-sensing neurons in the rat nodose ganglia. *The Journal of Physiology*, -.
- Grabner CP, Price SD, Lysakowski A & Fox AP. (2005). Mouse Chromaffin Cells Have Two Populations of Dense Core Vesicles. *Journal of Neurophysiology* **94**, 2093-2104.
- Gray H. (2005). Gray's anatomy: the anatomical basis of clinical practice. Elsevier, Edinburgh.
- Gromada J, Franklin I & Wollheim CB. (2007). {alpha}-Cells of the Endocrine Pancreas: 35 Years of Research but the Enigma Remains. *Endocr Rev* 28, 84-116.
- Guarner V & Alvarez-Buylla R. (1992). Developmental changes in blood glucose and tissue carbohydrates in the fetal rat: effects of insulin and adrenaline. *Acta Physiol Pharmacol Ther Latinoam* **42**, 51-59.
- Guyon A, Tardy MP, Rovere C, Nahon J-L, Barhanin J & Lesage F. (2009). Glucose Inhibition Persists in Hypothalamic Neurons Lacking Tandem-Pore K+ Channels. *J Neurosci* **29**, 2528-2533.
- Hagnevik K, Faxelius G, Lagercrantz H, Lundell B, Irestedt L, Lundell B & Persson B. (1983). Catecholamine surge and lung function after delivery. *Archives of Disease in Childhood* 58, 262-266.

- Harwell CM, Padbury JF, Anand RS, Martinez A, M., Ipp E, Thio SL & Burnell EE. (1990). Fetal catecholamine responses to maternal hypoglycemia. *Am J Physiol Regulatory Integrative Comp Physiol* **259**, 1126-1130.
- Hay WW, Jr., Sparks JW, Quissell BJ, Battaglia FC & Meschia G. (1981). Simultaneous measurements of umbilical uptake, fetal utilization rate, and fetal turnover rate of glucose. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* **240**, E662-668.
- Heimberg H, De Vos A, Moens K, Quartier E, Bouwens L, Pipeleers D, Van Schaftingen E, Madsen O & Schuit F. (1996). The glucose sensor protein glucokinase is expressed in glucagon-producing alpha-cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the* United States of America 93, 7036-7041.
- Holden KP, Jovanovic L, Druzin ML & Peterson CM. (1984). Increased Fetal Activity with Low Maternal Blood Glucose Levels in Pregnancies Complicated by Diabetes. *Amer J Perinatol* 1, 161,164.
- Hunter DJS. (1969). CHANGES IN BLOOD GLUCOSE AND LIVER CARBOHYDRATE AFTER INTRAUTERINE INJECTION OF GLUCAGON INTO FOETAL RATS. J Endocrinol **45**, 367-374.
- Inoue M, Fujishiro N & Imanaga I. (1998). Hypoxia and cyanide induce depolarization and catecholamine release in dispersed guinea-pig chromaffin cells. *The Journal of Physiology* **507**, 807-818.
- Irestedt L, Lagercrantz H & Belfrage P. (1984). Causes and Consequences of Maternal and Fetal Sympathoadrenal Activation During Parturition. *Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica* 63, 111-115.
- Jackson L, Williams FLR, Burchell A, Coughtrie MWH & Hume R. (2004). Plasma Catecholamines and the Counterregulatory Responses to Hypoglycemia in Infants: A Critical Role for Epinephrine and Cortisol. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* **89**, 6251-6256.
- Jankowski JA, Schroeder TJ, Holz RW & Wightman RM. (1992). Quantal secretion of catecholamines measured from individual bovine adrenal medullary cells permeabilized with digitonin. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **267**, 18329-18335.
- Jones CT & Ritchie JW. (1978). The metabolic and endocrine effects of circulating catecholamines in fetal sheep. *The Journal of Physiology* **285**, 395-408.
- Kang L, Dunn-Meynell AA, Routh VH, Gaspers LD, Nagata Y, Nishimura T, Eiki J, Zhang BB & Levin BE. (2006). Glucokinase Is a Critical Regulator of Ventromedial Hypothalamic Neuronal Glucosensing. *Diabetes* 55, 412-420.

- Kang L, Routh VH, Kuzhikandathil EV, Gaspers LD & Levin BE. (2004). Physiological and Molecular Characteristics of Rat Hypothalamic Ventromedial Nucleus Glucosensing Neurons. *Diabetes* 53, 549-559.
- Kasai Y, Ito S, Kitamura N, Ohta T & Nakazato Y. (1999). On-line measurement of adenosine triphosphate and catecholamine released from adrenal chromaffin cells. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology - Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology 122, 363-368.
- Khalil Z, Marley PD & Livett BG. (1986). Elevation in Plasma Catecholamines in Response to Insulin Stress Is under Both Neuronal and Nonneuronal Control. *Endocrinology* **119**, 159-167.
- Lagercrantz H & Slotkin TA. (1986). The "stress" of being born. *Scientific American* 254, 100-107.
- Langer O & Cohen WR. (1984). Persistent fetal bradycardia during maternal hypoglycemia. Am J Obstet Gynecol 149, 688-690.
- Lee J, Lim W, Eun SY, Kim SJ & Kim J. (2000). Inhibition of apamin-sensitive K+ current by hypoxia in adult rat adrenal chromaffin cells. *Pflügers Archiv European Journal of Physiology* **439**, 700-704.
- Leos RA, Anderson MJ, Chen X, Pugmire J, Anderson KA & Limesand SW. (2010). Chronic exposure to elevated norepinephrine suppresses insulin secretion in fetal sheep with placental insufficiency and intrauterine growth restriction. *American Journal of Physiology Endocrinology And Metabolism* **298**, E770-E778.
- Lernmark A & Wenngren BI. (1972). Insulin and glucagon release from the isolated pancreas of foetal and newborn mice. *J Embryol Exp Morphol* **28**, 607-614.
- Levin BE, Routh VH, Kang L, Sanders NM & Dunn-Meynell AA. (2004). Neuronal Glucosensing. *Diabetes* 53, 2521-2528.
- Levitsky KL & Lopez-Barneo J. (2009). Developmental change of T-type Ca2+ channel expression and its role in rat chromaffin cell responsiveness to acute hypoxia. *The Journal of Physiology* 587, 1917-1929.
- Lucas A, Morley R & Cole TJ. (1988). Adverse neurodevelopmental outcome of moderate neonatal hypoglycaemia. *British Medical Journal* **297**, 1304-1308.
- Machado J, Díaz-Vera J, Domínguez N, Álvarez C, Pardo M & Borges R. (2010). Chromogranins A and B as Regulators of Vesicle Cargo and Exocytosis. *Cellular and Molecular Neurobiology* **30**, 1181-1187.

- Machado JD, Morales A, Gomez JF & Borges R. (2001). cAMP Modulates Exocytotic Kinetics and Increases Quantal Size in Chromaffin Cells. *Molecular Pharmacology* **60**, 514-520.
- Machado JD, Segura F, Brioso MA & Borges R. (2000). Nitric Oxide Modulates a Late Step of Exocytosis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **275**, 20274-20279.
- Marliss EB, Wollheim CB, Bondel B, Orci L, Lambert AE, Stauffacher W, Like AA & Renold AE. (1973). Insulin and glucagon release from monolayer cell cultures of pancreas from newborn rats. *Eur J Clin Invest* **3**, 16-26.
- Marom R, Dollberg S, Mimouni FB, Berger I, Mordechayev N, Ochshorn Y & Mandel D. (2010). Neonatal blood glucose concentrations in caesarean and vaginally delivered term infants. Acta Pædiatrica 99, 1474-1477.
- Matveyenko AV & Donovan CM. (2006). Metabolic Sensors Mediate Hypoglycemic Detection at the Portal Vein. *Diabetes* 55, 1276-1282.
- Mochizuki-Oda N, Takeuchi Y, Matsumura K, Oosawa Y & Watanabe Y. (1997). Hypoxia-Induced Catecholamine Release and Intracellular Ca2+ Increase via Suppression of K+ Channels in Cultured Rat Adrenal Chromaffin Cells. *Journal of Neurochemistry* **69**, 377-387.
- Munoz-Cabello AM, Toledo-Aral JJ, Lopez-Barneo J & Echevarria M. (2005). Rat Adrenal Chromaffin Cells Are Neonatal CO2 Sensors. *J Neurosci* **25**, 6631-6640.
- Nicoletti I, Migliorati G, Pagliacci MC, Grignani F & Riccardi C. (1991). A rapid and simple method for measuring thymocyte apoptosis by propidium iodide staining and flow cytometry. *Journal of Immunological Methods* **139**, 271-279.
- Nurjhan N, Ktorza A, Ferre P, Girard J & Picon L. (1985). Effects of gestational hyperglycemia on glucose metabolism and its hormonal control in the fasted, newborn rat during the early postnatal period. *Diabetes* **34**, 995-1001.
- Pardal R & Lopez-Barneo J. (2002). Low glucose-sensing cells in the carotid body. *Nat Neurosci* 5, 197-198.
- Pedersen P, Avlund OL, Pedersen BL & Pryds O. (2009). Intramuscular adrenaline does not reduce the incidence of respiratory distress and hypoglycaemia in neonates delivered by elective caesarean section at term. Archives of Disease in Childhood - Fetal and Neonatal Edition 94, F164-F167.
- Peers C. (2004). Interactions of chemostimuli at the single cell level: studies in a model system. *Experimental Physiology* **89**, 60-65.
- Phillippe M & Kitzmiller J. (1981). The fetal and maternal catecholamine response to insulininduced hypoglycemia in the rat. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* **139**, 407-415.

- Pihel K, Schroeder TJ & Wightman RM. (1994). Rapid and Selective Cyclic Voltammetric Measurements of Epinephrine and Norepinephrine as a Method To Measure Secretion from Single Bovine Adrenal Medullary Cells. *Analytical Chemistry* **66**, 4532-4537.
- Piskuric NA, Brown ST, Zhang M & Nurse CA. (2008). Glucosensing in an immortalized adrenomedullary chromaffin cell line: Role of ATP-sensitive K+ channels. *Neuroscience Letters* 445, 94-98.
- Quesada I, Tuduri E, Ripoll C & Nadal A. (2008). Physiology of the pancreatic {alpha}-cell and glucagon secretion: role in glucose homeostasis and diabetes. *J Endocrinol* **199**, 5-19.
- Ream MA, Chandra R, Peavey M, Ray AM, Roffler-Tarlov S, Kim H-G, Wetsel WC, Rockman HA & Chikaraishi DM. (2008). High oxygen prevents fetal lethality due to lack of catecholamines. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* **295**, R942-953.
- Reid KH, Edmonds Jr HL, Schurr A, Tseng MT & West CA. (1988). Pitfalls in the use of brain slices. *Progress in Neurobiology* **31**, 1-18.
- Rico AJ, Prieto-Lloret J, Gonzalez C & Rigual R. (2005). Hypoxia and acidosis increase the secretion of catecholamines in the neonatal rat adrenal medulla: an in vitro study. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **289**, C1417-1425.
- Rojas E, Pollard HB & Heldman E. (1985). Real-time measurements of acetylcholine-induced release of ATP from bovine medullary chromaffin cells. *FEBS Letters* **185**, 323-327.
- Rosenn BM, Miodovnik M, Holcberg G, Khoury JC & Siddiqi TA. (1995). Hypoglycemia: The price of intensive insulin therapy for pregnant women with insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *Obstetrics & Gynecology* **85**, 417-422.
- Schipani E, Ryan HE, Didrickson S, Kobayashi T, Knight M & Johnson RS. (2001). Hypoxia in cartilage: HIF-1α is essential for chondrocyte growth arrest and survival. *Genes & Development* **15**, 2865-2876.
- Schonn J-S, Maximov A, Lao Y, Südhof TC & Sørensen JB. (2008). Synaptotagmin-1 and -7 are functionally overlapping Ca2+ sensors for exocytosis in adrenal chromaffin cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **105**, 3998-4003.
- Schurr A, West CA & Rigor BM. (1989). Electrophysiology of energy metabolism and neuronal function in the hippocampal slice preparation. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods* **28**, 7-13.
- Seidler FJ & Slotkin TA. (1985). Adrenomedullary function in the neonatal rat: responses to acute hypoxia. *The Journal of Physiology* **358**, 1-16.
- Seidler FJ & Slotkin TA. (1986). Ontogeny of adrenomedullary responses to hypoxia and hypoglycemia: Role of splanchnic innervation. *Brain Research Bulletin* **16**, 11-14.

- Semenza GL. (2004). O2-regulated gene expression: transcriptional control of cardiorespiratory physiology by HIF-1. *Journal of Applied Physiology* **96**, 1173-1177.
- Slotkin TA, Lappi SE, McCook EC, Lorber BA & Seidler FJ. (1995). Loss of neonatal hypoxia tolerance after prenatal nicotine exposure: Implications for sudden infant death syndrome. *Brain Research Bulletin* **38**, 69-75.
- Sodoyez-Goffaux F, Sodoyez JC, De Vos CJ & Foa PP. (1979). Insulin and glucagon secretion by islets isolated from fetal and neonatal rats. *Diabetologia* **16**, 121-123.
- Song Z & Routh VH. (2005). Differential Effects of Glucose and Lactate on Glucosensing Neurons in the Ventromedial Hypothalamic Nucleus. *Diabetes* **54**, 15-22.
- Souvannakitti D, Nanduri J, Yuan G, Kumar GK, Fox AP & Prabhakar NR. (2010). NADPH Oxidase-Dependent Regulation of T-Type Ca2+ Channels and Ryanodine Receptors Mediate the Augmented Exocytosis of Catecholamines from Intermittent Hypoxia-Treated Neonatal Rat Chromaffin Cells. *J Neurosci* **30**, 10763-10772.
- Sperling MA, Ganguli S, Leslie N & Landt K. (1984). Fetal-perinatal catecholamine secretion: role in perinatal glucose homeostasis. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* **247**, E69-74.
- Sperling MA, R.A. C, Ganguli S & Anand RS. (1980). Adrenergic modulation of pancreatic hormone secretion in utero: studies in fetal sheep. *Pediatric Research* 14, 203-208.
- Srinivasan G, Pildes RS, Cattamanchi G, Voora S & Lilien LD. (1986). Plasma glucose values in normal neonates: A new look. *The Journal of Pediatrics* **109**, 114-117.
- Stangenberg M, Persson B, Stange L & Carlstrom K. (1983). Insulin-induced hypoglycemia in pregnant diabetics. Maternal and fetal cardiovascular reactions. Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica 62, 249-252.
- Stannard JN & Horecker BL. (1948). THE IN VITRO INHIBITION OF CYTOCHROME OXIDASE BY AZIDE AND CYANIDE. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **172**, 599-608.
- Stern L, Ramos A & Leduc J. (1968). Urinary catecholamine excretion in infants of diabetic mothers. *Pediatrics* 42, 598.
- Takeuchi Y, Mochizuki-Oda N, Yamada H, Kurokawa K & Watanabe Y. (2001). Nonneurogenic Hypoxia Sensitivity in Rat Adrenal Slices. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 289, 51-56.
- Tang KS, Tse A & Tse FW. (2005). Differential regulation of multiple populations of granules in rat adrenal chromaffin cells by culture duration and cyclic AMP. *Journal of Neurochemistry* **92**, 1126-1139.

- Tanzer F, Yazer N, Yazar H & Icagasioglu D. (1997). Blood glucose levels and hypoglycemia in full term neonates during the first 48 hours of life. *Journal of Tropical Pediatrics* 43, 58-60.
- Taubenfeld SM, Stevens KA, Pollonini G, Ruggiero J & Alberini CM. (2002). Profound molecular changes following hippocampal slice preparation: loss of AMPA receptor subunits and uncoupled mRNA/protein expression. *Journal of Neurochemistry* 81, 1348-1360.
- Taylor SC, Batten TFC & Peers C. (1999). Hypoxic Enhancement of Quantal Catecholamine Secretion. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **274**, 31217-31222.
- ter Braak EWMT, Evers IM, Willem Erkelens D & Visser GHA. (2002). Maternal hypoglycemia during pregnancy in type 1 diabetes: maternal and fetal consequences. *Diabetes/Metabolism Research and Reviews* 18, 96-105.
- Thompson RJ, Buttigieg J, Zhang M & Nurse CA. (2007). A rotenone-sensitive site and H2O2 are key components of hypoxia-sensing in neonatal rat adrenomedullary chromaffin cells. *Neuroscience* **145**, 130-141.
- Thompson RJ, Jackson A & Nurse CA. (1997). Developmental loss of hypoxic chemosensitivity in rat adrenomedullary chromaffin cells. *The Journal of Physiology* **498**, 503-510.
- Thompson RJ & Nurse CA. (1998). Anoxia differentially modulates multiple K+ currents and depolarizes neonatal rat adrenal chromaffin cells. *The Journal of Physiology* **512**, 421-434.
- Thorens B. (2003). A gene knockout approach in mice to identify glucose sensors controlling glucose homeostasis. *Pflügers Archiv European Journal of Physiology* **445**, 482-490.
- Tian H, Hammer RE, Matsumoto AM, Russell DW & McKnight SL. (1998). The hypoxiaresponsive transcription factor EPAS1 is essential for catecholamine homeostasis and protection against heart failure during embryonic development. *Genes & Development* 12, 3320-3324.
- Tomanek RJ, Ratajska A, Kitten GT, Yue X & Sandra A. (1999). Vascular endothelial growth factor expression coincides with coronary vasculogenesis and angiogenesis. *Developmental Dynamics* **215**, 54-61.
- Tomlinson A & Coupland RE. (1990). The innervation of the adrenal gland. IV. Innervation of the rat adrenal medulla from birth to old age. A descriptive and quantitative morphometric and biochemical study of the innervation of chromaffin cells and adrenal medullary neurons in Wistar rats. *Journal of Anatomy* **169**, 209-236.

- Videen JS, Mezger MS, Chang YM & O'Connor DT. (1992). Calcium and catecholamine interactions with adrenal chromogranins. Comparison of driving forces in binding and aggregation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **267**, 3066-3073.
- von Ruden L & Neher E. (1993). A Ca-dependent early step in the release of catecholamines from adrenal chromaffin cells. *Science* **262**, 1061-1065.
- Whittingham TS, Lust WD, Christakis DA & Passonneau JV. (1984). Metabolic Stability of Hippocampal Slice Preparations During Prolonged Incubation. *Journal of Neurochemistry* **43**, 689-696.
- Wightman RM, Jankowski JA, Kennedy RT, Kawagoe KT, Schroeder TJ, Leszczyszyn DJ, Near JA, Diliberto EJ & Viveros OH. (1991). Temporally resolved catecholamine spikes correspond to single vesicle release from individual chromaffin cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **88**, 10754-10758.
- Williams AF. (1997). Hypoglycaemia of the Newborn: Review of the literature. In *World Health Organization*. Geneva.
- Winkler H & Westhead E. (1980). Th molecular organization of adrenal chromaffin granules. *Neuroscience* **5**, 1803-1823.
- Zapata A, Grande C & Hernandez-garcia JM. (1994). Influence of metabolic control of pregnant diabetics on fetal lung maturity. *Scandinavian Journal of Clinical & Laboratory Investigation* **54**, 431-434.
- Zhang M, Buttigieg J & Nurse CA. (2007). Neurotransmitter mechanisms mediating low-glucose signalling in cocultures and fresh tissue slices of rat carotid body. *The Journal of Physiology* 578, 735-750.
- Zhou Q-Y, Quaife CJ & Palmiter RD. (1995). Targeted disruption of the tyrosine hydroxylase gene reveals that catecholamines are required for mouse fetal development. *Nature* **374**, 640-643.
- Zhou Z & Misler S. (1995). Action Potential-induced Quantal Secretion of Catecholamines from Rat Adrenal Chromaffin Cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **270**, 3498-3505.